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NYCEEC FY 2017 Operations & Accomplishments
In fiscal year 2017, NYCEEC:

- financed 7 new projects and closed a restructured of an existing loan, for a total of 8
financing transactions (NYCEEC committed approximately $9 million of capital to
these financing arrangements and total clean energy project costs financed stands at
approximately $121 million as of June 2017, an increase of approximately $30
million over FY year-end 2016);

- launched a contractor-based marketing initiative;

- refined operational and programmatic structures:

o continued implementation of a three year strategic plan
o hired an Executive Assistant
o soft-launched a geographic expansion program

- raised significant amounts in government and private foundation funding in the
fiscal year;

- continued to expand its pipeline of transactions; and

- continued further enhancements to its website and marketing collateral



Description of Grants and Subsidies

In FY 2017, NYCEEC did not make any grants or subsidies.



OPERATING AND FINANCIAL RISKS

NYCEEC is exposed to various risks of loss-related to torts; theft of, damage to, and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and injuries to employees. NYCEEC carries
commercial insurance coverage for these risks.



Description of Bond Ratings

In FY 2017, NYCEEC did not issue any bonds nor have any bonds outstanding.



Long Term Liabilities

NYCEEC is currently a subtenant in a lease for the use of office space in Manhattan. This
lease commenced on June 1, 2014 and extends through December 31, 2018. The lease is
subject to escalations for increases in real estate taxes and other operating expenses. The
lease is more fully described in the corporation’s audited financial statements for FY 2017.

During fiscal year 2017, NYCEEC maintained a contributory, defined-contribution 401(i)
plan covering all employees who met specific eligibility requirements. This plan is more
fully described in the corporation’s audited financial statements for FY 2017.

During fiscal year 2017, NYCEEC had borrowed funds from various lenders, including F]C, a
New York not-for-profit corporation, Bank of America, the MacArthur Foundation and
Deutsche Bank. As of the end of FY 2017, NYCEEC owed approximately $8.5 million under
these loans. These loans are more fully described in the corporation’s audited financial
statements for FY 2017.



Mission Statement and Performance Metrics Report

Mission Statement
NYCEEC’s mission is to innovate and deliver clean energy financing solutions for buildings.

(Adopted: October 15, 2015)

Performance Metrics Report
Annual progress towards NYCEEC’s mission in FY2017

e InFY2017, NYCEEC financed 7 new projects and closed a restructured of an existing
loan, for a total of 8 financing transactions. NYCEEC committed approximately $9
million of capital to these financing arrangements. Total clean energy project costs
financed stands at approximately $121 million as of June 2017, an increase of
approximately $30 million over FY year-end 2016.

e Launched a contractor-based marketing initiative.

e Refined operational and programmatic structures:

o Continued implementation of a three year strategic plan
o Hired an Executive Assistant
o Soft-launch of geographic expansion

e Raised significant amounts in government and private foundation funding in the
fiscal year

e Continued to expand our pipeline of transactions

e Continued further enhancements to our website and marketing collateral



Schedule of Bonds and Notes

See Annex



Employee Compensation Schedule

See Annex



Biographies of NYCEEC Board of Directors and Staff

As of June 30, 2017




Hannah Blitzer — NYCEEC Director

Senior Advisor
NYC Deputy Mayor for Housing and Economic Development

Hannah Blitzer is a Senior Advisor for the Deputy Mayor for Housing and Economic
Development in New York City, where she focuses on affordable and public housing policy. In
this role, she serves as the primary liaison between City Hall and the New York City Housing
Authority (NYCHA), the Department of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD), and the
Housing Development Corporation (HDC).

Prior to joining the staff of the Mayor’s office, Hannah held several positions at the Low Income
Investment Fund (LIIF), a nonprofit loan fund that provides capital solutions to support healthy
communities. Most recently, as LIIF’'s Director, National Strategic Initiatives, she conducted
research and led the development of new products and programs. Before that, she spent seven
years as a transactional lender, as a Senior Loan Officer at LIIF and earlier as a Vice
President/Relationship Manager at Citi Community Capital. In those roles, she underwrote
acquisition, predevelopment, construction, and permanent loans as well as New Markets Tax
Credit (NMTC) investments to finance multi-family affordable housing, community facilities,
and commercial properties. Hannah previously worked on the grantmaking team at the Robin
Hood Foundation and as an educational advocate at Advocates for Children of New York.
Hannah has a B.A. from Wesleyan University and an M.B.A. from Yale School of Management.

Ms. Blitzer was designated by the City to serve on NYCEEC’s board on or around June 22, 2017



Jeff Brodsky — NYCEEC Director

Vice Chairman
Related Companies

Jeffrey Brodsky is Vice Chairman of Related Companies where he works closely with Related’s
executive team to optimize business development and drive improved performance and
results, across the platform and internationally.

Mr. Brodsky is a member of the Real Estate Board of New York Residential Management Council
and the recipient of its 2006 George M. Brooker Management Executive of the year award, the
Board of Directors of the Corporation for Supportive Housing, the National Housing Conference,
the National Leased Housing Association, the Realty Advisory Board of N.Y., the Homeland
Security Task Force of the Real Estate roundtable, and has just completed a 4 year role as the
Chairman of the Property Management committee of the National Multi-Housing Council. He is
the 2009 recipient of the Institute for Real Estate Management (IREM) NY Chapter Certified
Property Manager of the Year Award, and is Chairman of Urban Green, the US Green Building
Council chapter in New York.

Mr. Brodsky holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Rensselaer
Polytechnic Institute and received a Master’s degree in Business Administration from New York

University.

Mr. Brodsky was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on or around May 9, 2011.



Mark Chambers — NYCEEC Director

Director
NYC Mayor’s Office of Sustainability

Mark Chambers most recently served as the Director of Sustainability and Energy for the
Government of the District of Columbia, where he led an interdisciplinary team at the
Washington D.C. Department of General Services to creatively implement energy management
and resource conservation efforts across 30 million square feet of real estate, spanning all the
District’s property assets including municipal offices, public schools, public housing, libraries,
homeless shelters, data centers, emergency management services and parks and recreation
facilities. In this role, he helped lead the development, administration and implementation of
the District’s SustainableDC commitments, most notably negotiating the nation’s largest
municipal wind and solar renewable power purchase agreements. An urbanist and licensed
architect, Chambers has dedicated his career to working on high performance design, zero
waste policy and City scale building energy efficiency, with a focus on equitable economic
growth, public engagement and promoting transparency through data and innovation.

Chambers holds a bachelors degree in Architecture as well as a masters degree in Public Policy
and Management with a concentration in urban and regional economic development from
Carnegie Mellon University in Pittsburgh, PA. He and his wife live in Washington Heights with
their two children.

Mr. Chambers was designated by the City to serve on NYCEEC’s board on or around June 22,
2017



David Fenton — NYCEEC Director

Founder and Chairman
Fenton Communications

David Fenton, named “one of the 100 most influential P.R. people” by PR Week and “the Robin
Hood of public relations” by The National Journal, founded Fenton in 1982 to create
communications campaigns for the environment, public health and human rights. Over four
decades he has pioneered the use of PR, social media and advertising techniques for social
change. Mr. Fenton’s firm Fenton Communications has 60 employees in four offices — New
York, Washington, Los Angeles and San Francisco.

Some of Mr. Fenton’s best-known campaigns include aiding the rise of MoveOn.org, stimulating
the rise in organic food sales, a decade representing Nelson Mandela and the African National
Congress, passing sanctions against apartheid, saving swordfish from extinction with a coalition
of top chefs, working with Al Gore and the United Nations on climate change, public health
campaigns against tobacco and endocrine-disrupting chemicals, publicizing the nation’s first gay
marriages, keeping hard-liquor ads off broadcast television, the founding of Business for Social
Responsibility and many others. David and the firm have also worked with governments and
international NGOs in Africa, Israel, Europe, Japan, Latin America and the Caribbean. David is a
member of the Council on Foreign Relations.

David has helped incubate and launch a series of non-profit organizations, including the pro-
peace, pro-Israel group J Street, Climate Nexus, the Death Penalty Information Center, the
Central America Media Project, the Southern Africa Media Project, New Economy
Communications, Environmental Media Services (which later became Resource Media), and the
American Freedom campaign against the abuse of executive power. He serves on the Board of
EcoAmerica and the Chairman’s Council of Conservation International.

Mr. Fenton started his career as a photojournalist in the late 1960s — his book “Shots: An
American Photographer’s Journal” was published in 2005. He was formerly Director of Public
Relations at Rolling Stone magazine and Co-Producer of the No-Nukes concerts in 1979 at
Madison Square Garden with Bruce Springsteen, Bonnie Raitt, James Taylor, Jackson Browne
and other artists. David is a native of Manhattan where he lives with his wife and two
teenagers.

Mr. Fenton was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on June 29, 2016.



Ashok Gupta — NYCEEC Director

Senior Energy Economist
NRDC

Ashok Gupta is Senior Energy Economist at the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC), a
non-profit organization of scientists, lawyers and environmental specialists dedicated to
protecting public health and the environment with 1.2 million members, where he works with
his colleagues on global warming policies, electric utility regulation, energy efficiency,
renewables, sustainable building design and reducing petroleum dependence. He was
previously Director of Programs at NRDC as well as the Director of the Air/Energy Program. He
has been with NRDC since 1991.

Mr. Gupta served as NRDC'’s representative on Mayor Bloomberg’s Sustainability Advisory
Board and Energy Policy Task Force. He received the US Green Building Council’s 2007
Leadership Award for Advocacy, the Environmental Steward Award from Solar One in 2006, the
Environmental Professional of the Year Award from the Association of Energy Engineers in
2003, and the Environmental Advocates’ 2001 Advocate Award for leadership in support of
clean air and energy. Mr. Gupta also serves on the Boards of Directors of the Coalition for
Environmentally Responsible Economies, Building Energy Exchange, PACE Now, and Bridging
the Gap.

Mr. Gupta has a bachelor’s degree in physics and math from Georgetown University and a
master’s degree in economics from American University.

Mr. Gupta was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on June 29, 2016.



Greg Hale — NYCEEC Director

Senior Advisor
Office of the Governor, State of New York

Greg Hale is Senior Advisor to the Chairman of Energy & Finance, Office of the Governor, State
of New York, where he is working on the New York State Green Bank and various other clean
energy finance and economic development initiatives.

Prior to joining the Governor’s Office, Greg was the Director of Efficiency Finance at NRDC's
Center for Market Innovation, where he focused on developing the market for energy efficiency
building retrofits in the commercial, multi-family and institutional property sectors. At NRDC,
Greg worked closely with financial institutions, real estate owners and occupants,
governmental entities, energy services and technology companies, and NGOs to: (i) make the
retrofit business case clear to building owners and occupants; and (ii) develop, promote and
scale various innovative financing mechanisms for the retrofit marketplace. Greg’s work also
included an emphasis on energy efficiency leasing practices. Greg is a founding board member
of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation, and served on the steering committee of
the PACENow Coalition.

Prior to NRDC, Greg spent 17 years in the real estate industry, first as a real estate lawyer at
Skadden, Arps, et al., and then as co-owner and general counsel of Cirque Property L.C., a real
estate investment company which acquired, financed, managed and sold a portfolio of
properties throughout the western United States.

Greg is a graduate of Dartmouth College and The University of Michigan Law School.

Mr. Hale was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on or around May 9, 2011.



Marc Khouzami — NYCEEC Director

Director
Deutsche Bank Asset and Wealth Management

Marc Khouzami is a Director in Deutsche Bank’s Asset and Wealth Management group. At
Deutsche Bank, Mr. Khouzami works as a generalist private equity investor focused on
sustainability covering a variety of sectors including energy, waste and water management,
recycling, industrials, building materials, packaging, agriculture, and chemicals. Prior to joining
Deutsche Bank in 2009, Mr. Khouzami was an Associate at Citi’s Alternative Investments,
Sustainable Development Investments group which served as a generalist growth equity vehicle
of Citi Alternative Investments, making investments in a range of sectors including renewable
and alternative energy, energy efficiency, waste and water management, and sustainable
materials and products. Before Citi, Mr. Khouzami worked at Paragon Capital Partners, Oxygen
Cable and Lehman Brothers.

Mr. Khouzami holds a bachelor’s degree in mathematics and economics from Vanderbilt
University and an MBA from Columbia University.

Mr. Khouzami was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on June 29, 2016.



Sadie McKeown — NYCEEC Director

Chief Operating Officer & Executive Vice President
Community Preservation Corporation

Sadie McKeown is the Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President at the Community
Preservation Corporation (CPC).

In this capacity, Sadie oversees all of CPC’s lending activities, business operations and investor
relations, as well the operation of all Regional Field offices. She is also responsible for the
company’s innovative Green Financing Initiative which combines public incentives for energy
retrofits with private dollars to reduce a borrower’s energy, heat, and water costs as well as
their carbon footprint.

After starting her career at CPC as a Mortgage Originator in 1992, Sadie later served as Senior
Vice President and Director of Lending in CPC’s Hudson Valley Region, where she led the
company’s Downtown Main Street initiatives.

Sadie earned her Master’s degree in Human Services Administration with a concentration in
Housing from Cornell University. She received her Bachelor’s degree in Communications from

Fordham University.

Ms. McKeown was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on March 10, 2016.



Renwick Paige — NYCEEC Director

Founder & President
Energy Infrastructure Partners

Renwick (Renny) Paige is the Founding Partner and President of Energy Infrastructure Partners.

Renny has spent over 28 years in infrastructure finance and private equity. He led
transportation, utility and education financings at Lehman Brothers and launched the project
finance and air cargo product lines for Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (GE Capital). He
led the Acquisitions Department at US Water and also worked at JP Morgan.

Renny received a JD from University of Pennsylvania Law School and also attended Wharton
Graduate School and received a BA from Amherst College.

Mr. Paige was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on March 1, 2012.



Curtis Probst — NYCEEC Director

Managing Director
Rocky Mountain Institute

Curtis Probst is a Managing Director at Rocky Mountain Institute (RMI). At RMI, Curtis leads the
sustainable finance practice. He brings 24 years of financial market expertise to a broad range
of energy and sustainability issues.

Prior to joining RMI, Curtis worked at Goldman, Sachs & Co. for over 15 years in New York, most
recently as a Managing Director in their investment banking division. Prior to joining the
investment banking division, Curtis was a Managing Director in their fixed income, currency and
commodities division. Before joining Goldman Sachs, Curtis worked at Salomon Brothers, most
recently as a Vice President in their structured and project finance group. He joined Salomon
Brothers in 1989 in their financial institutions group, and worked in both their New York and
Los Angeles offices.

Curtis has been a leader in developing innovative solutions to raise capital for corporate and
governmental clients. He has participated in over $50 billion of financings secured by a broad
range of assets. Curtis was a pioneer in using structured finance in the power industry,
structuring the first US electric utility tariff securitization. He has testified as an expert witness
in utility regulatory proceedings and served on the Financial Advisory Committee of the US
Department of Energy’s first North American Energy Monitoring and Verification Protocol.

Curtis received a Bachelor of Commerce from the University of Calgary and a Master of Public
Administration from Columbia University. He is an accredited LEED Green Associate, a
Chartered Financial Analyst, and a member of the CFA Institute and the CFA Society of
Stamford. Curtis currently sits on the Management Advisory Board at the Earth Institute of
Columbia University.

Mr. Probst was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on January 15, 2015.



Bruce Schlein — NYCEEC Director

Director, Community Reinvestment Act Business Strategy & Execution
Citi

Bruce Schlein is a Director in Citi’s Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) Business Strategy &
Execution group, where he develops clean energy solutions for low and moderate income
households and communities, having recently transitioned from Citi’s Alternative Energy
Finance (AEF) group in Capital Markets Origination.

Prior to AEF, Bruce served as Director of Corporate Sustainability with Citi business and
operations units to identify and develop solutions for emerging environmental and social issues
and opportunities. Previously he worked as a sustainability specialist for Bechtel on
petrochemical and civil projects in China and Romania, and for international development
agencies including Save the Children, Catholic Relief Services in Bosnia Herzegovina and the U.S.
Peace Corps in Papua New Guinea.

Bruce is a graduate of Cornell University and holds a Masters in International Affairs from Johns
Hopkins Nitze School of Advanced International Studies (SAIS).

Mr. Schlein was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on June 29, 2016.



Elizabeth Zeldin — NYCEEC Director

Senior Program Director
Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

Elizabeth Zeldin is a Senior Program Director at Enterprise Community Partners, Inc. At
Enterprise, Ms. Zeldin leads a team that has developed and executed a new neighborhood-
focused program at Enterprise, weaving affordable housing preservation with capacity building,
green, resilience, and health. Ms. Zeldin started at Enterprise in 2007 as a lending program
officer. Prior to joining Enterprise, Ms. Zeldin worked at the New York City Department of
Housing Preservation and Development, HR&A Advisors, New York City Independent Budget
Office and other organizations.

Ms. Zeldin holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from Rutgers University and a Masters in
economics from New York University.

Ms. Zeldin was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director on June 29, 2016.



Posie Constable
Director, Business Development
NYCEEC

Posie heads NYCEEC's business development efforts to provide financing for projects that save
energy or reduce greenhouse gases. She has spearheaded NYCEEC's efforts to help buildings
comply with the City’s Clean Heat law (Local Law 43) by providing innovative funding
throughout the five boroughs for heavy oil fuel conversions.

With over 28 years of experience at various firms on Wall Street, Posie has served as trading
manager of various asset classes, managed the business development and origination of new
products and acted as industry spokesperson in operations, accounting and regulatory matters.

Posie holds an MBA in Finance from Fordham University and is a graduate of University of
Colorado, Boulder (Asian Studies). She received her certificate in Landscape Design from the

New York Botanical Gardens.

Ms. Constable was hired in March 2012.



Erangi Dias
Associate Director, Business Development
NYCEEC

Erangi is an Associate Director of Business Development for NYCEEC. Erangi sources and
executes financing transactions for new projects that save energy or reduce greenhouse gases,
working with customers to understand their financing needs, and provide custom solutions.

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Erangi was a Vice President at Citigroup, where she held roles in
Corporate and Investment Banking, and Credit Risk Management. While at Citigroup, she spent
five years focusing on Project Finance, primarily in the Renewable Energy sector. Erangi has
worked on numerous structured financings for Wind, Solar and Geothermal projects in North
America.

Erangi holds a BS in Economics from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania.

Ms. Dias was hired in April 2015.



Christopher Diamond
Director, Engineering and Technical Analysis
NYCEEC

Chris was the Director of Engineering and Technical Analysis for NYCEEC. He was responsible
for development and implementation of NYCEEC's policies and best practices with regard to
energy efficiency and building technologies. Chris also managed the technical quality assurance
and execution of energy retrofit transactions.

Chris has over twenty years of multidisciplinary experience in engineering and architecture,
most recently with a focus on energy efficiency and environmental sustainability in a wide
range of commercial, institutional, industrial, and multifamily residential projects. Prior to
joining NYCEEC, Chris was a Senior Sustainability Consultant with Steven Winter Associates
where he led a number of new construction and renovation projects seeking LEED certification.
Additionally, he was an Associate Architect at TEN Arquitectos and an Associate Engineer at Guy
Nordenson and Associates prior to that. He started his career in Los Angeles with Fred Fiedler
and Associates.

Chris holds a Master of Architecture and a Master of Science in Engineering from University of
California, Berkeley and is a graduate of Manhattan College (Bachelor of Engineering).

Mr. Diamond was hired in February 2012.



Mayra Diaz-Kalisch
Executive Assistant
NYCEEC

Mayra is the Executive Assistant to the CEO and Administrative Coordinator for the NYCEEC
Team. She is responsible for assisting the CEO and the Director of Operations as well as
supporting the overall efforts of the NYCEEC team. With more than 20 years of experience
supporting executives and managing offices, Mayra brings to this role a deep knowledge and
experience working with public and private boards, organizing meetings and speaking events,
and overall office management.

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Mayra served as Administrative Assistant to the President of The
Deutsche Bank Americas Foundation/Community Development Finance Group in New York
from 2013-2017.

Mayra has served on the steering committee for Philanthropy New York’s Assistants and
Coordinators Network (PACNET), attended SUNY’s Empire State College, and has received

additional training in social media from the Social Media School and Media Bistro.

Ms. Kalisch was hired in April 2017.



Michael Kerstetter

Deputy General Counsel
NYCEEC

Michael is NYCEEC's Deputy General Counsel. He assists the Director of Legal & Business
Development in managing the day-to-day legal affairs and operations of the organization and
provides legal advice on various programs and projects. In addition, Michael provides support
to NYCEEC's transaction managers in negotiating and closing financing and other transactions.

Michael has broad experience advising clients on various corporate matters and representing
them on a diverse array of commercial, financial, climate change mitigation and adaptation,
real estate, and other transactions. Prior to joining NYCEEC, he was Counsel at the New York
City Economic Development Corporation and was a Research Fellow at the Sabin Center for
Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School. Michael started his legal career at White & Case
LLP as a project finance and climate change attorney in the firm’s New York and Abu Dhabi
offices. He also served for over four years in the United States Coast Guard.

Michael holds a JD from Fordham University School of Law and a BA in Editorial Journalism from
the University of Washington. He is admitted to practice in New York.

Mr. Kerstetter was hired in March 2015.



Naeemah Lajoie
Director, Operations
NYCEEC

Naeemabh is the Director of Operations for NYCEEC. Naeemabh is responsible for managing the
operational and administrative affairs of the organization.

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Naeemah served as Director of Budget and Planning for the City of New
York’s Energy Management team at the Department of Citywide Administrative Services
(DCAS), where she was instrumental in developing and managing financial and operational tools
in support of the City’s PlaNYC and One City: Built to Last initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from City government operations. Naeemah has over 15 years of finance, strategy,
and operational experience in the private, not-for-profit and public sectors. She began her
career in the financial services industry with tenures in Equity Research at Merrill Lynch, and in
Credit Portfolio Management at Credit Suisse.

Naeemah holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance from Eastern Michigan
University, and received a Professional Certificate in Not-For-Profit Accounting and

Governmental Reporting from New York University.

Ms. Lajoie was hired in November 2015.



Fred Lee

Director, Legal and Business Development
NYCEEC

Fred is the Director of Legal and Business Development for NYCEEC. Fred manages the day-to-
day legal affairs of the organization, in addition to leading underwriting and execution of new
transactions.

Fred has experience in clean tech, real estate finance and the public sector. Prior to joining
NYCEEC, Fred was Assistant Director in the Center for Economic Transformation at the New
York City Economic Development Corporation, where he led the Clean Technology and Energy
team. He served as project lead on a variety of energy efficiency and renewable energy projects
and focused generally on developing the clean technology and energy sectors in NYC. Prior to
entering the energy related industry, Fred was a structured finance attorney, focusing on
securitization of real estate related securities.

Fred holds an MBA with a concentration in real estate finance from Columbia Business School
and a JD from Cornell Law School. He also holds a BA in Political Science from Amherst College.

Mr. Lee was hired in August 2011.



Susan Leeds
CEO
NYCEEC

Susan is the Chief Executive Officer of NYCEEC. Susan is the day-to-day leader and visionary,
and drives the team towards fulfilling NYCEEC's mission.

Susan is a seasoned professional with over seventeen years of experience in financial markets.
Prior to joining NYCEEC, Susan developed a funding strategy for an energy efficiency project
developer and advised a major national bank on product opportunities in energy efficiency
finance. Susan has also managed financial sector advocacy for the Natural Resources Defense
Council (NRDC), one of the nation’s leading environmental action groups. Additionally, she has
held executive positions at a non-profit financial advocacy institution and at for-profit financial
institutions in the mortgage and asset-backed space, including Deutsche Bank and GE Capital.

Susan holds an MBA in finance from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania and a
BA from the University of Pennsylvania.

Ms. Leeds was hired in May 2011.



Jessica Luk

Associate Director, Communications and Development
NYCEEC

Jessica leads NYCEEC’s marketing and communications, as well as its development activities.

Jessica brings to NYCEEC a breadth of experience in finance, business development and
sustainability policy. These include JPMorgan, a venture-backed information services company
and the NYC Mayor’s Office of Sustainability (MOS). At MOS, under former Mayor Michael
Bloomberg, Jessica helped develop the financing and green jobs components of the Greener,
Greater Buildings Plan.

Jessica holds an MBA from the Wharton School and an MA in Environmental Studies from the
University of Pennsylvania. She also graduated with a BA in Economics and in History of Art
from Yale University.

Ms. Luk was hired in February 2012.



Jay Merves
Director, Business Development and Finance
NYCEEC

Jay is the Director of Business Development and Finance at NYCEEC. Jay is responsible for
leading business development activities, sourcing, negotiating, and closing transactions, and
managing relationships with customers and counterparties, including project developers and
lenders.

Jay has extensive experience in his career managing complex financial transactions at global
financial institutions. These include GE Capital, Chase, ACE Insurance, and Credit Suisse. Prior to
joining NYCEEC, Jay served as a consultant in the areas of clean energy finance and risk
management, and conducted an assignment on the development of PACE related projects. Jay’s
areas of expertise include clean energy financings, structured credit, and synthetic securities.

Jay holds an MBA from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business and a BS in
Economics from the University of Pennsylvania.

Mr. Merves was hired in December 2012.



Patrick O’Donnell
Associate Director, Engineering
NYCEEC

Patrick is the Associate Director of Engineering for NYCEEC. He assists in the development and
implementation of NYCEEC's policies and best practices with regard to energy efficiency and
building technologies. Patrick provides engineering due diligence and assists in the execution of
energy retrofit transactions.

Patrick has over 6 years of diverse experience in energy efficiency and building systems
optimization. Working as a consultant in the commercial and industrial facilities sector, he has
performed a multitude of investment-grade energy audits, retro-commissioning, and feasibility
studies. He also has expertise in building automation systems, energy project retrofits, and
implementation.

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Patrick worked as a project implementation engineer for Michaels
Energy where he managed energy efficiency retrofit projects from benchmarking through
design, construction, commissioning, and evaluation. Additionally, Patrick has experience with
energy program development, LEED facilitation, whole building energy modeling, and new
construction design assistance.

Patrick holds a bachelor of science in mechanical engineering and environmental studies from
lowa State University and is fluent in Spanish. He is a LEED accredited professional and a

registered Professional Engineer.

Mr. O’Donnell was hired in February 2016.



Audited Financials

See Annex



Schedule of Projects

See Annex



Real Property Report

NYCEEC did not own, acquire or sell any real property during this fiscal year.



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
CODE OF ETHICS FOR DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES

. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (the
"Corporation™) has adopted this code of ethics (“Code”) with respect to its Directors, Officers and
Employees. This Code is intended to promote (a) honest and ethical conduct, including the
proper handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional
relationships, and (b) full, fair and understandable disclosure in the periodic reports required to be
filed hereby. This Code (a) provides examples of situations involving conflicts of interest; (b)
establishes disclosure procedures; and (c) outlines corrective action for violations. It is vitally
important to the public trust that both the fact and the appearance of conflicting interests and
improper corporate conduct be avoided. Each Director, Officer and Employee will be expected
to read and understand this Code and to review it periodically in order to be alert to situations
that could create a conflict of interest or otherwise be contrary to the established policies of the
Corporation.

1. GUIDELINES

A. Prohibition. A Director, Officer or Employee may not make personal investments in
enterprises that he or she has reason to believe may be directly involved in decisions to be made
by him or her, in his or her capacity as Director, Officer or Employee of the Corporation, or that
will otherwise create substantial conflict between his or her duty to the Corporation and his or
her private interest. Additionally, a Director, Officer or Employee is prohibited from accepting
employment that impairs or could impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of
his or her official duties.

B. Personal Interest. A Director, Officer or Employee shall be deemed to be "interested™ in
cases in which the Director’s, Officer’s or Employee’s personal interest conflicts with the interest
of the Corporation. The following are situations in which a Director, Officer or Employee would
be deemed to be “interested”, which list is not intended to be exhaustive:

e Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family has
an Ownership Interest? in an entity from which the Corporation purchases services or
supplies.

! Immediate family means a spouse, domestic partner, unemancipated child, and if they live with the Director,
Officer or Employee, a parent or sibling.

2 An Ownership Interest means an interest in an entity that exceeds 5% of the entity or an investment of $35,000 in
cash or other form of commitment, whichever is less, or 5% or $35,000 of the entity's indebtedness, whichever is
less, and any lesser interest in an entity when the person exercises managerial control or responsibility regarding any
such entity, but shall not include interests held in any pension plan, deferred compensation plan or mutual fund, the
investments of which are not controlled by the person, or in any blind trust that holds or acquires an ownership
interest.
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e Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family has
an Ownership Interest in an entity with which the Corporation contracts.

e Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family has
an Ownership Interest in an entity with which the Corporation negotiates or effects a
transaction or an entity that substantially benefits from a transaction that the Corporation
negotiates or effects.

A Director, Officer or Employee shall not be deemed to be “interested” by virtue of his or her
status as an official or employee of the City of New York.

When a Director, Officer or Employee is "interested” in a matter: (a) the Director, Officer or
Employee must disclose the nature and extent of his or her interest to the Board or committee of
the Board, whichever will be considering the matter; and (b) the Director, Officer or Employee,
acting as a Director, Officer or Employee, must take no part in the consideration, determination
or approval of the matter on the part of the Corporation.

C. Confidential and Inside Information. Confidential information acquired by a Director,
Officer or Employee in the course of his or her duties as a Director, Officer or Employee must
be held in confidence and may not be used as a basis for personal gain by the Director, Officer
or Employee, his or her immediate family or others. Information relating to transactions pending
with the Corporation is not to be given to any person unless it has been published or otherwise
made generally available to the public by the Corporation.

A Director, Officer or Employee must refrain from transmitting any information about the
Corporation or its deliberations or decisions or any other information the Director, Officer or
Employee obtained from the Corporation that might be prejudicial to the interests of the
Corporation to any person other than in connection with the discharge of the Director's, Officer’s
or Employee’s responsibilities, except to the extent the information is publicly available.

A Director, Officer or Employee must not accept employment or engage in any business or
professional activity that will require him or her to disclose confidential information that he or
she has gained by reason of his or her official position of authority.

D. Gratuities/Conduct. A Director, Officer or Employee must not be placed under actual
or apparent obligation to anyone by accepting, or permitting his or her immediate family to
accept, gifts or other favors where it might appear that they were given for the purpose of
improperly influencing the Director, Officer or Employee in the performance of his or her
corporate duties. In addition, a Director, Officer or Employee should never use his or her official
position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions; nor should a Director, Officer or
Employee, by his or her conduct, give any reasonable basis for the impression that any person
can improperly influence him or her or unduly enjoy his or her favor in the performance of his or
her official duties or that he or she is affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any
party or person. Instead, a Director, Officer or Employee should endeavor to pursue a course of
conduct that will not raise suspicion that he or she is likely to be engaged in acts that are in
violation of his or her trust. Meals provided during meetings with contractors that are reasonable
under the circumstances and where paying directly is impracticable (e.g. sandwiches at



meetings), shall not be deemed to violate this policy. Gifts of an aggregate of less than $75in a
twelve month period from an individual firm or employees of a single firm that does business or
intends to do business with the Corporation shall not be deemed to violate this policy.

1. DISCLOSURE PROCEDURE

A. If at any time a Director, Officer or Employee is in doubt as to the proper application of
this Code, the Director, Officer or Employee should immediately make all the facts known to the
General Counsel of the Corporation, or in the absence of a general counsel, the New York City
Law Department, and be guided by the instructions he or she receives. Except as otherwise
directed by those instructions, the Director, Officer or Employee should refrain from exercising
responsibility with regard to the Corporation in any matter that might reasonably be thought to
be affected by his or her interest.

B. Each Director, Officer and Employee shall make the annual filings required of Directors
and Officers and Employees under N.Y. Pub. Auth. Law § 2825(3).

V. VIOLATIONS

If a Director, Officer or Employee violates any of the provisions of this Code, such Director,
Officer or Employee shall be subject to an appropriate remedy under the circumstances. In
addition to any penalty contained in any provision of law, Officers or Employees may be subject,
at the Board's discretion, to removal for cause.



NYCEEC Internal Control Assessment FY2017

As part of the annual audit, NYCEEC’s independent auditors, Marks Paneth, evaluated
NYCEEC'’s internal controls to identify any deficiencies or material weaknesses. This
evaluation did not reveal any material weaknesses.

NYCEEC also undergoes an annual A-133 Single Audit to test internal controls and

compliance. NYCEEC’s independent auditor completed the A-133 Single Audit for fiscal
year 2017 and did not identify any material weaknesses.



Description of NYCEEC

New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (“NYCEEC”) is a non-profit, specialty finance
company that provides loans and innovative financing solutions, coupled with technical
engineering guidance, to help building owners undertake energy efficiency and clean
energy projects that reduce greenhouse gas emission and save money. NYCEEC finances
energy efficiency, combined heat and power, fuel conversion, demand response and
building-scale renewable energy projects.

NYCEEC is governed by a Board of Directors whose membership includes public officials
and private individuals. In fiscal year 2014, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors voted to become
self-perpetuating and NYCEEC is no longer a component unit of The City of New York (the
“City”).

On November 29, 2012, NYCEEC received notice from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”)
that its tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code was
approved, and it is exempt from federal income taxes. NYCEEC is considered a public
charity under Section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi). NYCEEC was incorporated under the laws of the
State of New York (the “State”) and is exempt from State and local income and sales taxes.

NYCEEC makes construction and permanent loans and provides credit enhancement in the
form of loan loss reserves exclusively for energy efficiency and clean energy projects in
buildings. NYCEEC also partners with various lending organizations to finance such
projects while encouraging best practices with respect to energy efficiency retrofit
implementation and ongoing performance monitoring.



Board of Directors

a. Board Structure

As of the end of FY2017, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) totaled 12 total
members and two vacant seats. Those members include City officials, business owners in
the field and community leaders.

The Board has three committees. Committee names and memberships are listed below:

Audit and Finance Committee:
Renwick Paige

Sadie McKeown

Marc Khouzami

Governance and HR Committee:
Greg Hale

Jeff Brodsky

Bruce Schlein

Executive Committee:
Jeff Brodsky

Greg Hale

Renwick Paige

NYCEEC Board Members (as of June 30, 2017)

J. Gregory Hale
Marc Khouzami
Sadie McKeown
0. Renwick Paige
10. Curtis Probst
11. Bruce Schlein
12. Elizabeth Zeldin

1. Hannah Blitzer

2. Jeffrey Brodsky -- Chairman
3. Mark Chambers

4, David Fenton

5. Ashok Gupta

6.

7.

8.

b. NYCEEC Board Meeting Minutes
See Annex

c. NYCEEC Audit & Finance Committee Minutes
See Annex



d. NYCEEC Governance & HR Committee Minutes
See Annex

e. NYCEEC Executive Committee Minutes
See Annex

f. List of board meeting attendance

10/26/2016 10 out of 11 directors
3/9/2017 10 out of 11 directors!
6/28/2017 10 out of 12 directors?

g. Board Performance Evaluation
See Annex

1 At the time of this meeting and the previous meeting, of the 14 existing board positions, three were vacant.
2 At the time of this meeting, of the 14 existing board positions, two were vacant.



NYCEEC Committee Members
As of June 30, 2017

The Board has three committees. Committee names and membership is listed below:

Executive Committee:
Jeff Brodsky

Greg Hale

Renwick Paige

Audit and Finance Committee:
Renwick Paige

Greg Hale

Marc Khouzami

Governance and HR Committee:
Greg Hale

Jeff Brodsky

Bruce Schlein




Major Authority Units and Subsidiaries

For FY 2017, NYCEEC was comprised of the following major units/departments: business
development, engineering, marketing and communications, operations and legal.

For FY 2017, NYCEEC did not have any major subsidiaries.



Number of Employees and Executive Management Team

As of June 30, 2017 NYCEEC had 11 employees and the executive management team
consisted of the following individuals

e Susan Leeds - President and CEO
e Fred Lee - Vice President and Secretary
e Jay Merves - Treasurer



NYCEEC Organizational Chart

Susan Leeds
President and CEO

Fred Lee
Vice President,
Secretary and Director
of Legal and Business
Development

Michael Kerstetter
Deputy General
Counsel

As of June 30, 2017

Chris Diamond
Director of Engineering

Patrick O’Donnell
Associate Director of
Engineering

Jay Merves
Treasurer and Director
of Business
Development

Posie Constable
Director of Business
Development

Erangi Dias
Associate Director of
Business Development

Jessica Luk
Director of
Communications and
Development

Naeemabh Lajoie
Director of Operations

Mayra Kalisch
Executive Assistant




Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws

See Annex



List of Material Operations and Program Changes
During the Reporting Year

NYCEEC did not have any significant changes in its material operations and programs
during the Fiscal Year.
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Budget Report for New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation

Fiscal Year Ending 06/30/2018

Run Date: 10/12/2017

Status: CERTIFIED

Budget & Financial Plan: Budgeted Revenues, Expenditures, And Changes In Current Net Assets
Last Year Current Year Next Year (Adopted)
(Actual) (Estimated)
2016 2017 2018
REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES
Operating Revenues
Charges for services $0 $0 $0
Rentals & Financing Income $2,162,383 $2,888,866 $3,169,737
Other Operating Revenues $0 $0 $0
Nonoperating Revenues
Investment earnings $2,899 $5,633 $2,500
State subsidies / grants $0 $27,833 $167,000
Federal subsidies / grants $0 $870,122 $45,000
Municipal subsidies / grants $6,127,280 $1,089,503 $1,100,000
Public authority subsidies $0 $0 $0
Other Non-Operating Revenues $300,933 $205,930 $526,985
Proceeds from the issuance of debt $0 $0 $0
Total Revenues & Financing Sources $8,593,495 $5,087,887 $5,011,222
EXPENDITURES
Operating Expenditures
Salaries and Wages $1,698,039 $1,839,082 $2,150,000
Other Employee Benefits $345,695 $412,245 $494,500
Professional Services Contracts $588,421 $331,233 $462,000
Supplies and Materials $9,532 $7,711 $20,000
Other Operating Expenditures $255,159 $557,479 $721,700
Nonoperating Expenditures
Payment of principal on bonds and financing arrangements $0 $0 $0
Interest and other financing charges $104,834 $279,003 $280,000
Subsidies to other public authorities $0 $0 $0
Capital asset outlay $0 $0 $0
Grants and Donations $0 $0 $0
Other Non-Operating Expenditures $0 $1,628,000 $200,000
Total Expenditures $3,001,680 $5,054,753 $4,328,200
Capital Contributions $0 $0 $0
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and capital $5,591,815 $33,134 $683,022

contributions over expenditures

The authority's budget, as presented to the Board of Directors, is posted on the following website:

WwWw.nyceec.com

Proposed

2019

$0
$3,328,224
$0

$2,625

$0
$50,000
$1,100,000
$0
$553,334
$0
$5,034,183

$2,214,500
$509,335
$475,860
$20,600
$743,351

$0
$288,400
$0

$0

$0

$0
$4,252,046
$0
$782,137

Proposed

2020

$0
$3,494,635
$0

$2,756

$0
$50,000
$1,100,000
$0
$581,001
$0
$5,228,392

$2,280,935
$524,615
$490,136
$21,218
$765,652

$0
$297,052
$0

$0

$0

$0
$4,379,608
$0
$848,784

Proposed

2021

$0
$3,669,367
$0

$2,839

$0

$50,000
$1,100,000
$0
$610,051
$0
$5,432,257

$2,349,363
$540,353
$504,840
$21,855
$788,622

$0
$305,964
$0

$0

$0

$0
$4,510,997
$0
$921,260

Page 1 of 2
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Board Performance Evaluations

See Annex



Description of Assets or Services Bought Without Competitive Bidding

During FY 2017, except as described in the procurement report, all NYEEC acquisitions of
assets and services were done through competitive procurements.

A copy of the procurement report is included in the attached Annex.



Board and Committee Meeting Minutes

See Annex



Salary, Compensation and Reimbursement Policy

The corporation’s employee handbook was originally approved by NYCEEC’s board of
directors in June 2013. The handbook includes the corporation’s policies on salary,
compensation and reimbursement. The relevant policies are copied below.

Salary and Compensation

WORK HOURS AND COMPENSATION-RELATED PRACTICES
INTRODUCTION

Depending on the number of hours you work, you will be designated a full-time, part-time, or temporary
employee. All employees, whether designated full-time, part-time, or temporary are classified as either
exempt or non-exempt. Employees will be advised of their classification at the time of hire and upon any
subsequent change in job title or responsibilities affecting that status.

SIXTY (60) DAY INTRODUCTORY PERIOD

As a new employee, you will have a sixty (60) day introductory period. This period gives you the opportunity
to adjust to a new working environment and gives NYCEEC the opportunity to observe your performance. An
employee is considered a regular employee after successful completion of the introductory period. NYCEEC
reserves the right to extend an employee’s introductory period.

During the introductory period, you will receive those benefits mandated by law (e.g., disability, Workers’
Compensation, and Unemployment Insurance), and certain, but not all of the additional benefits extended to
regular full-time employees who have completed the introductory period. Please see Section X below
regarding a summary of and eligibility for offered Benefits.

Notwithstanding this introductory period, at all times during and after this period you are free to resign at
will, just as NYCEEC is free to terminate your employment at will.

REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES

You are considered a regular full-time employee if you are normally scheduled to work forty (40) or more
hours per week.

You may be eligible for NYCEEC benefits pursuant to the terms and conditions of the applicable benefit plan,
program, or policy.

REGULAR PART-TIME AND HOURLY EMPLOYEES

You are considered a regular part-time employee if you are normally scheduled to work fewer than 40 hours
per week on a regular basis. You are considered an hourly employee if you work fluctuating hours and are
not regularly scheduled to work.

You may be eligible for additional NYCEEC benefits pursuant to the terms and conditions of the applicable
benefit plan, program, or policy.



TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES

You are considered a temporary employee if you are scheduled at NYCEEC’s option to work on an as-needed
basis.

Temporary employees are not eligible to participate in any NYCEEC benefit plan, program, or policy.
EXEMPT AND NON-EXEMPT STATUS

Exempt status is determined by applicable federal and state laws. Exempt employees are paid on a salaried
basis and are not eligible for overtime compensation.

Non-exempt status is determined by applicable federal and state laws. Non-exempt employees are paid
straight time pay for all hours actually worked up to the 40th hour in a workweek plus time-and-one-half
their regular rate of pay for all hours actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in any given workweek.

Additional information regarding exempt/non-exempt status, as well as deductions from pay, can be found in
NYCEEC's Salary Basis Policy, set out as Attachment A to [the] Employee Manual.

OVERTIME

From time to time, NYCEEC may require employees to work overtime so that work is completed and up-to-
date. Exempt employees are required to work the hours necessary to cover all work demands without extra
compensation. For non-exempt employees, any overtime worked, including before and after your regular
work hours, must be authorized by your supervisor. For overtime calculation purposes, the week begins on
Saturday and ends on Friday, and includes hours actually worked. For purposes of computing overtime,
NYCEEC does not count paid time off or holidays as hours “actually worked.”

TIMEKEEPING

To ensure that employees are accurately paid and that NYCEEC is in compliance with applicable law,
complete records of employee hours worked must be kept. All employees must accurately record their time
on the electronic ADP timekeeping system maintained by NYCEEC.

This means that all employees must accurately record all time worked and any days off including the use of
accrued leave time. All time must be entered into and finalized on the ADP system no less frequently than the
Friday before the issuance of payroll on a biweekly (every two (2) weeks) basis.

No employee may enter time for another employee without proper authorization. In the event of an issue or
error in recording your time, please report the matter to immediately the Director of Operations.

PAY PERIOD

The pay period is for the fourteen day period from Saturday through the second following Friday. You will
receive your pay biweekly on the Thursday before the end of the pay period.

OFFICE HOURS

NYCEEC’s regular office hours begin at 9:00 am, Monday through Friday. Notwithstanding these hours,
employees are expected to devote the amount of time necessary to perform their job responsibilities.



ALTERNATIVE WORK SCHEDULES

NYCEEC is committed to providing an environment that creates flexibility in balancing the challenging
demands of the workplace. We recognize that sometimes it is in everyone’s interests to consider alternative
work schedules.

Examples of such schedules might be

o Flexible start/end time

o Telecommuting

o Reduced hours (which may include a status change to part-time)
o Remote access

NYCEEC'’s primary obligation must always be to serve our clients and consequently, the business needs of the
organization must always be the primary guide for determining eligibility for an alternative work schedule.
In addition, these options may not be appropriate for particular positions or situations.

Only eligible employees, who have successfully completed at least six (6) months of employment, and who
hold, in NYCEEC’s CEO’s sole discretion, positions that are amenable to an alternative work schedule will be
considered for such an arrangement. If you would like to work an alternative schedule, you should make such
request in advance to the CEO.

With respect to any arrangement, which involves work outside of the NYCEEC office:

o You may be required to be on-site as necessary to attending meetings, or trainings, or based on other
business necessity.

o NYCEEC may provide remote access to its network. Please see the Director of Operations for
additional information.

o Any employee working an alternative work schedule will be required to meet the same performance
standards as other employees.

o Any decision to grant, or deny a request, or to change an arrangement under this policy, is within
NYCEEC'’s sole discretion. In any event, alternative work schedules will be reviewed on an annual
basis.

LUNCH PERIOD/BREAKS

The lunch period for all regular, full-time employees is one (1) hour. Part-time employees who work more
than six (6) hours in a day are entitled to a lunch period of thirty (30) minutes. Regular, full-time employees
are also entitled to two (2) breaks of ten (10) minutes each during the course of the day.



Reimbursement Policy

Article I
Purpose

This policy provides NYCEEC employees and contractors with guidelines for the reimbursement of business
expenses incurred in the conduct of necessary organization business, and to control and minimize such costs.

This policy establishes guidelines for the reimbursement of business-related travel and meal expenses for
NYCEEC Employees and Contractors.

These guidelines are for both the individuals submitting reimbursement forms and for the NYCEEC senior
staff and Directors charged with the responsibility of reviewing and approving the business-related expenses
of others.

Article 11
Procedures

Section 1. Responsibility

All NYCEEC employees and contractors must request reimbursement of business-related expenses by
submitting a completed and approved reimbursement form in accordance with this policy along with relevant
receipts (for all purchases over $5). In addition, the employee and contractors must make all efforts to gain
prior approval from the CEO or an Officer before the following expenses are incurred:

1. Out-of-town travel
2. Conferences
3. Webinars

All travel and meal allowance reimbursements should be submitted as one complete package on a per-trip
basis within 20 days after a trip for NYCEEC staff and 10 days for contractors.

NYCEEC is a 501 (c)(3) organization and is eligible to receive sales-tax exempt certification in most states.
NYCEEC has a sales-tax exempt certification for New York State, which should be used for business travel in
the state, lodging and other business related purposes.

Before traveling, NYCEEC staff should alert the Associate Director, Operations & Administration to the
location (if outside of New York) of the business travel and all efforts will be made to get the sales-tax exempt
certification for that state for staff to use while traveling for purposes including but not limited to car rental,
lodging, etc.

Section 2. General

NYCEEC will reimburse employees and contractors for usual and reasonable expenses incurred in the
conduct of the organizations business. This policy applies to:



e Use of business-related equipment for NYCEEC employees, such as cell phones and Blackberry’s (for
Directors and Associate Directors only)

e Personal wireless device data plan charges on minutes and data used for business purposes up to 50
% based on average monthly use

e  Wireless internet access equipment i.e. wireless access cards for laptop use

e Background investigation costs required and pertaining to working for NYCEEC i.e. DOI background
check related expenses

e Renewal of professional licensing fees i.e. bar association renewals, etc.
e All travel and business-related expenses incurred by NYCEEC employees and contractors

NYCEEC employees and contractors must ensure goods or services they are purchasing for $25 or more are
not available from sources within the company prior to incurring an expense. If the goods or services are not
available from within the organization, the employee or contractor must obtain prior approval from his/her
manager before purchasing, and to the extent possible, should use the corporate credit card to purchase such
goods or services totaling $25 or more. Employees and contractors are expected to exercise prudent business
judgment in relation to all expenses covered by this policy.

All reimbursement forms for goods or services from employees and contractors must be submitted for
payment not later than 30 days from the date the expense was incurred. Estimated expenses are prohibited,
unless approved by the CEO.

Section 3. Transportation
In-Town

The following guidelines should be used when traveling in-town for business purposes if you plan to seek
reimbursement for travel expenses:

1. Public transportation (subways, buses, ferries) should be used whenever possible and is reimbursed on an
expense voucher for traveling to meeting from the office. Traveling from meetings back to the office is also a
reimbursable expense. If meetings are a significant distance from the office and pose an inconvenience to
staff returning to their homes, NYCEEC will reimburse for travel from the meeting to their homes.

2. If public transportation is not reasonably possible, using a taxi cab is permissible. The employee or
contractor needs to submit receipts for such uses to be reimbursed within 30 days after use of taxi cab.

Out-of-Town

Air and Train Transportation: Employees and contractors are encouraged to make reservations for train or
plane travel as early as possible to get the best rates. All business air and train travel will be by
coach/tourist/economy class unless due to time sensitivity, business-class travel is required. When making
airline and train reservations, employees are to request flights and trains in accordance with required
departure/arrival times that utilize the lowest fare prices and direct routes for a traveler’s flight or train
itinerary.



Taxi and other Local Transportation: The cost of taxis or town car service to and from places of business,
hotels, airports or railroad stations in connection with business activities are reimbursable. However, the use
of airport subway or bus service is strongly encouraged.

Car Rental: The use of car rentals is only permissible for economic need and not personal convenience. All
rentals should be at economy rates, i.e., standard or compact size cars. The use of full-size cars is acceptable
when four or more employees are traveling together and sharing the rental.

Airport parking of personal automobiles, tolls and mileage incurred when on NYCEEC business will be
reimbursed.

Driving: NYCEEC encourages car rentals for out-of-town travel when applicable. If a car rental isn’t readily
available, NYCEEC will reimburse employees based on mileage stated on directions generated through Map
Quest or other similar direction services. OR the IRS allows reimbursement for $.55 for every business mile
driven and NYCEEC will reimburse employees and contractors at this same rate for driving expenses. Note-
This rate is subject to change per IRS guidelines.

Section 4. Meals
In-Town

NYCEEC employees and contractors should avoid conducting business over meals. Reimbursement may be
requested for meals over $20 under unavoidable circumstances. The business purpose as well as the name
and affiliation of the parties involved must be disclosed. There is a $50 per annum threshold for employees to
accept payment of meals by outside partners.

Out-of-Town

NYCEEC will reimburse employees and contractors for reasonable and appropriate out-of-town business
meals and incidental expenses (snacks) at the per diem rate of $70.00. The per diem rate for international
travel is $90.00. NYCEEC employees should use the corporate card to make meal purchases whenever
possible; NYCEEC contractors should use a personal credit card or their business credit card for these
purchases whenever possible and must submit all receipts within 10 days after travel.

The cost of magazines, pharmaceuticals and other non-food incidentals are not reimbursable even if incurred
while on business travel.

There is a $50 per annum threshold for employees to accept payment of meals by outside partners.

Section 5. Lodging

NYCEEC will pay only room rental costs supported by the hotel bill. Employees and contractors are required
to break down billing for meals and other expenditures from lodging on the reimbursement request. When
traveling, employees and contractors are expected to use reasonably priced hotels or motels, whenever
possible. Incidental expenses are the employee’s responsibility.



Convention Rate:

Hotel accommodations at official conference/convention hotels are permissible. Employees should make
efforts to choose the most economical hotel accommodations if official conference/convention hotel offering
are not available.

Section 6. Telephone Use

NYCEEC encourages the use of personal cell phones for employees and contractors as much as possible for
business-related calls during out-of-town travel versus using hotel phones and these business-related calls
can be reimbursed. If an employee purchases a calling card, purchases an international data plan, rents a cell
phone or buys a SIM card for business purpose use, these costs are also reimbursable. Personal calls are not
eligible for reimbursement.

Section 7. Business Meals

As a general matter, NYCEEC staff and contractors do not expect to conduct business over meals. If a
circumstance arises where a business meal is required and meets a $20 or more threshold, employees should
make every effort to pay for meals using the corporate card, and should submit receipts for reimbursement
within 30 days of the event. Contractors should use a credit card (business or personal) and a written
explanation with business purpose as well as the name and affiliation of the parties involved must be
disclosed within 30 days of the event.

Payment for incidentals (snacks, etc.) for Board meetings should be purchased with the corporate card and
are reimbursable. Receipts should be given to the Associate Director, Operations and Administration for
tracking purposes.

Section 8. NYCEEC will reimburse the International Traveler for the following
e Airportdeparture and arrival fees
e Passports and Visas
e Immunizations and Inoculations
e Traveler Check fees
e Currency exchange commissions and fees

o Use of telephone cards or cell phone SIM cards or international data plans for work email access

Section 9. Procedures for Reimbursement of Expenses

The employee or contractor claiming reimbursement for expenses must bear sole responsibility for ensuring
that documentation is complete and:



1. Prepare the expense/travel reimbursement form accurately and include original receipts. Receipts are
required for in-town public transportation (i.e. bus and subway) and taxi cab rides over $5. If purchasing a
subway card using the corporate card, a receipt is also required.

2. Ensure the out-of-town travel expense voucher contains a copy of the itinerary (location and duration of
the business trip), and a description of the business purpose. Out-of-town reimbursement forms are to be
prepared on a per trip basis and submitted for reimbursement within 30 days of returning from the trip for
NYCEEC staff and contractors.

3. NYCEEC employees and contractors should avoid conducting business over meals. Reimbursement may be
requested for meals under unavoidable circumstances such as impromptu meetings with business partners.
The business purpose as well as the name and affiliation of the parties involved must be disclosed. There is a
$50 per annum threshold for employees to accept payment of meals by outside partners.

Section 10. Approvals
The CEO and/or Corporate Officer will approve reimbursement forms.

All travel plans require prior approval from the CEO or the Associate Director, Operations and
Administration. Approval must be requested by means of an itinerary memorandum or email, which
discloses the business purpose as well as the location and duration of the trip.

Travel or business expenses that are not in accordance with this policy are the employee’s or contractor’s
responsibility unless approved in writing by the NYCEEC CEO or the Associate Director, Operations and
Administration.

NYCEEC’s CEO must obtain an approving signature of all reimbursements from an Officer of the Corporation.

Section 11. Expense Support

The following documentation, along with a description of the business purpose, is required to be given for
reimbursement of business expenses:

e Transportation: Original Airline, train or bus ticket/stub and proof of payment.
e (Car Rental: Original car rental agreement/paid invoice and/or proof of payment.

e Driving: Proof of mileage driven and for what business purpose i.e. print out of directions from Map
Quest or a similar direction service.

e Lodging: Original invoice provided by hotel and proof of payment.

e Out-of-Town Meals: Receipts verifying meals within the allowable Per Diem for Domestic and
International travel rates.

e Business Meals: Credit card or cash receipt proof of payment for all in-town and out-of-town
business meals, the names and affiliation of parties entertained, and the business purpose.



o Telephone: Employees and contractors are encouraged to use cell phones whenever possible for
business calls during out-of-town travel. Original receipt or hotel bills itemizing business calls and
business purpose are required for reimbursement.

e Personal cell phone use for business: Copy of bill and note on the bill indicating percentage used for
business purposes.

e Taxiand Other Local Transportation: Receipts required for costs totaling over $5.

e Other Expenses: Credit card proof of payment or cash receipts is required for all items. *Note-These
are subject to management discretion and approval by the CEO.

* Business reimbursement claims must be submitted with proof of payment. Employees and contractors
should make every effort to pay for out-of-town meals using the corporate card or a credit card, and should
submit the credit card authorization receipt demonstrating proof of payment for reimbursement. Itemized
receipts will not be accepted in the place of a credit card authorization receipts. If the credit authorization
receipt is lost or unavailable, NYCEEC will accept a copy of the employee’s credit card statement as proof of
payment.



New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation:
The Disposition of Personal Property

In FY17, NYCEEC followed the policy of NYCEDC for the Disposition of Personal Property
which is as follows:

Personal Property Valued at $5,000 or Less

Whenever New York City Economic Development Corporation (the "Corporation")
wishes to transfer title to or a beneficial interest in an item of personal property or an
interest therein with an estimated value of $5,000 or less, it shall obtain offers from one
or more persons or entities as the Corporation's contracting officer for personal
property dispositions (the "Contracting Officer") or his or her designee deems
appropriate. The Corporation shall maintain a record of the persons or entities
approached and their responses. The Corporation may conduct discussions with some
or all ofthe persons and entities. The property may be disposed of to whichever person
or entity the Contracting Officer or his or her designee selects based on the proposed
price and any other factors that the Contracting Officer or his or her designee deems
appropriate.

All personal property that the Contracting Officer or his or her designee considers to be
of no sale value and no use to the Corporation may be destroyed or otherwise disposed
of in such manner as is determined by the Contracting Officer or his or her designee.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, records may only be destroyed or disposed of at a time
and in a manner not in conflict with applicable law, regulation or contract.

No approval of a disposition of a type described above is required from the Board of
Directors or any committee thereof. All disposal documents must be approved and
executed by an officer who is an authorized signatory of all agreements of the
Corporation.

Personal Property Valued in Excess of $5.000

Whenever the Corporation wishes to transfer title to or a beneficial interestin an item
of personal property or an interest therein with an estimated value in excess of $5,000
it shall first obtain an appraisal of the property if, because of the unique nature of the
property or the unique circumstances of the proposed transaction, it is notreadily
valued by reference to an active market for similar property. However, an appraisal of
the property will not be required if an appraisal of the property or similar property has
been made within the past two years.

The person or entity to which the property shall be disposed of shall be determined
through a procurement conducted in accordance with Title 5-A of Article 9 of the Public
Authorities Law. The Corporation shall publicly advertise for proposals for the disposal
of the property in accordance with Title 5-A, provided that it may dispose of the
property without public advertising, obtaining such competition as is feasible under the



circumstances, when permitted to do so under Title 5-A. All requirements of Title 5-A
and other applicable laws, if any, related to the disposition shall be complied with.

Prior to the disposal of the property, the project manager involved in the disposition
shall be the primary person responsible for the monitoring of compliance with the
terms of the contract for the disposal, and shall keep the Contracting Officer or his or
her designee informed of all major issues that arise and of the status of the disposition.

The disposal must be approved by the Board of Directors or Executive Committee of the
Board if the disposal (1) is on a sole source basis for an amount in excess of $20,000, (2)
is for an amount in excess of $100,000 and has been competitively procured, or (3)

is for property valued in excess of $5,000 and will be disposed of for less than fair
market value. For disposals for less than those amounts, no approval is required of the
Board of Directors or a committee thereof. In all cases, the disposal mustbe approved
by the Contracting Officer or his or her designee and disposal documents must be
approved and executed by an officer who is an authorized signatory of all agreements
of the Corporation.

The Contracting Officer shall cause a record to be maintained of all personal property
disposed of for an amount in excess of $5,000 and shall cause to be prepared and
transmitted all reports relating to the disposition of personal property required by Title
5- A

ntractin fficer
The person who, from time to time, oversees the Corporation's unit for the

procurement of contracts for goods and services shall be the Corporation's Contracting
Officer for personal property dispositions.



Approved
Oetober 24 2016

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY
CORPORATION

PROCUREMENT POLICY

Article I
Purpose

The purpose of this procurement policy (this “Policy”) is to set forth the policies of the
New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (the “Corporation”) with respect to the
Corporation's procurement of all goods and services (including information technology,
consulting and other services of any type). Where any laws, rules or regulations applicable to the
Corporation’s funds, or any portion thereof, prescribe procurement requirements that differ from
those set forth in this Policy, the requirements of such laws, rules or regulations shall govern
with respect to the procurement of all contracts that will be or may be subject to such
requirements. The Corporation’s procurements shall be managed by its personnel.

Article I
Procedures

Section 1.  Procurement Methods
Contracts by the Corporation shall be awarded by one of the following four methods:
a. Small Purchase Procurement

All procurements for an amount larger than $20,000 but not more than $100,000' shall
be made using the small purchase procurement method (a “Small Purchase Procurement™). In
each Small Purchase Procurement, the Corporation shall solicit proposals through a written
request for proposals ("REP"). The Corporation shall use reasonable efforts to obtain proposals
from at least three responsible persons or entities. Except where the Corporation determines that
another period of time is reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, each RFP shall
give bidders at least three weeks from the date the RFP is issued to submit proposals.
Procurement requirements shall not be artificially divided so as to constitute a Small Purchase
Procurement under this subsection.

"If Section 3-08 (or any successor provision) of New York City’s Procurement Policy Board Rules permits the City
to make a small purchase procurement for goods, information technology, consulting services or other services or
any other matter for a larger amount than the limit set forth above for the Corporation, then such higher limit shall
also apply to the Corporation.

Rev. 9/16/2016
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b. Competitive Procurement

All procurements for an amount larger than $100,000 shall be made using the competitive
proposals procurement method (a “Competitive Procurement™). In each Competitive
Procurement, the Corporation shall solicit proposals through a written RFP, which shall
thoroughly describe the goods or services sought by the Corporation. The Corporation shall use
reasonable efforts to obtain proposals from at least three responsible persons or entities. The
Corporation shall provide adequate public notice of the solicitation by publication of the RFP on
the Corporation’s web site and on any other web site or in any publication that the Corporation
deems reasonable. Except where the Corporation determines that another period of time is
reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, each RFP shall give bidders at least three
weeks from the date the RFP is issued to submit proposals.

The contract resulting from a Competitive Procurement, if any, shall be awarded to the
responsible and responsive bidder whose proposal is determined in writing to be the most
advantageous to the Corporation, taking into consideration the evaluation factors set forth below
and any other factors deemed relevant by the Corporation.

e. Non-Competitive/Sole Source Procurement

A contract may be awarded for goods or services, without competition (meaning
solicitation of a proposal from only one source, or if after solicitation of proposals from a
number of sources, competition is determined inadequate), to a single source (a “Sole Source
Procurement™) when (i) such award is permitted by the Federal, state or local law, rule or
regulation applicable to the funds being used; (ii) such award is authorized by a majority vote of
the Corporation’s Board of Directors, or when, with the Board’s approval, the Corporation's
President or another Officer of the Corporation determines in writing that there is only one
source for the required goods or services; (iii) the award of a contract under another available
procurement method is infeasible; and (iv) one of the following circumstances apply: (A) the
goods or services are available only from a single source; (B) the Corporation's President or
another Officer of the Corporation determines in writing that emergency circumstances exist
such that time is of the essence; (C) where applicable, the awarding agency authorizes non-
competitive proposals; or (D) after solicitation of a number of sources, competition is determined
to be inadequate.

d. Micro-Purchase Procurement

For any procurement of goods or services of any type totaling $20,000 or less, the
Corporation shall obtain proposals from one or more persons or entities as it deems appropriate
(a “Micro-Purchase Procurement™). If the Corporation only obtains a proposal from one person
or entity pursuant to this subsection, it shall not be considered a Sole Source Procurement under
this Policy. Procurement requirements shall not be artificially divided so as to constitute a
Micro-Purchase Procurement under this subsection. Procurements duly undertaken as Micro-
Purchase Procurements that result in fair and reasonable prices for the Corporation need not
follow the evaluation and selection process described in Section 2 below; provided, that
reasonable efforts (that are in any case consistent with the Corporation's prevailing practices)
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shall be undertaken to document the procurement and selection process of all Micro-Purchase
Procurements.

Section 2. Evaluation and Selection Process
a. General Policy

The Corporation shall conduct all procurements in a manner that promotes full and open
competition.

b. Evaluation Process

Proposals submitted in connection with Small Purchase Procurements and Competitive
Procurements shall be evaluated on the basis of the following criteria ("Evaluation Criteria"):
the bidder's competence and capacity to perform the services or provide the goods as proposed;
the bidder's qualifications; relevant knowledge and experience; the bidder's reputation in the
industry; cost; and such other criteria as the Corporation may consider appropriate.

As shall have been provided in the RFP, and under relevant Corporation guidelines, if
any, discussions may be conducted with one or more bidders who submit proposals determined
by the Corporation to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for award for the purpose of
clarification to assure full understanding of, and responsiveness to, the solicitation requirements
and for other appropriate purposes. Such bidders shall be accorded fair and equal treatment
with respect to any opportunity for discussion and all bidders shall be accorded fair and equal
treatment with respect to any opportunity granted by the Corporation to revise proposals, and
such revisions may be permitted by the Corporation after submissions and prior to award for the
purpose of obtaining best and final offers or for other appropriate purposes. In conducting
discussions, there shall be no disclosure of any information derived from proposals submitted
by competing bidders.

c. Consultant Selection Committee

In the procurement of all consulting and professional services, the Corporation shall
organize a committee of at least three qualified Corporation personnel (a *“Selection
Committee™). The Selection Committee shall evaluate current statements of qualification and
performance data on file with the Corporation (if any) regarding the bidders under consideration.
The Selection Committee or CEO shall obtain proposals in accordance with Section 1; review
such proposals in a manner consistent with this Section 2, and may conduct discussions with
some or all of the bidders and then, based on the Selection Committee's review of all proposals
against the Evaluation Criteria, shall rank the bidders, in order of preference, considered to be the
most appropriate to provide the services required.

d. Negotiation

In the procurement of all consulting and professional services, the CEO, or a designated
employee of the Corporation, shall negotiate a contract with the most appropriate firm or person
identified by the Selection Committee, at a compensation level that is fair and reasonable to the
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Corporation. In making compensation decisions, the Corporation shall take into account the
estimated value, the scope, the complexity and the professional nature of the services to be
rendered. Within a reasonable period of time, should the Corporation be unable to negotiate a
satisfactory contract with the first ranked bidder at a price the Corporation determines to be fair
and reasonable, the Corporation shall terminate negotiations with that bidder, and then undertake
negotiations with the second ranked bidder (if applicable). Failing accord with the second
ranked bidder, the Corporation shall terminate such negotiations and then undertake negotiations
with the third ranked bidder (if applicable). Should the Corporation be unable to negotiate a
contract with any of the selected firms within a reasonable period of time, the Corporation may
select additional persons or firms in an order based on the quality of their proposals and their
proposed prices, competence and qualifications, and may continue negotiations in accordance
with this subsection until an agreement is reached.

e. Award

The Corporation may only award contracts for goods to the responsible bidder whose
product is of the best quality, as determined by the Corporation, and whose bid conforms with all
material terms and conditions of the RFP, is the lowest in price and provides the best value for
the goods being purchased.

The Corporation may only award contracts for consulting and professional services on
the basis of demonstrated competence and qualification for the type of service required, and at a
fair and reasonable price and after the evaluation and selection process described above in this
Section 2 has been duly undertaken.

The Corporation may elect to cancel a RFP at any time and is not required to make an
award to any of the bidders, should the Corporation determine, in its sole and absolute discretion,
that none of the proposals satisfied its needs. Similarly, the Corporation, in its sole and absolute
discretion, may select more than one bidder should the Corporation determine that it is necessary
or appropriate for multiple persons or entities to provide the goods or services being procured.

No contract that will be or may be funded under the City Contract or that is otherwise
subject to the requirements of the City Contract shall be awarded or entered into by the
Corporation until, to the extent required by the City Contract, the City's prior consent has been
duly obtained. As used herein, the term "City" means the City of New York, and the term "City
Contract" means the Contract dated November 18, 2010 between the City and the Corporation,
as such Contract was amended by the Amendment dated March 9, 2016, and as it may be further
amended, amended and restated, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time.

Section 3.  Record Keeping

The Corporation shall maintain records sufficient to detail the significant history of all
procurements for at least six years after the final payment or expiration or termination of the City
Contract (or for such longer period as may be required by law). These records should include,
but are not limited to: (i) the rationale for the method of procurement, (ii) the names of the
bidders, (iii) the bidder(s) selected or rejected, and (iv) the basis for the contract price. The types
of records maintained shall in any case be consistent with the Corporation's prevailing practices.
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In the case of all Sole Source Procurements, the Corporation shall document its
procurement activity, account for the existence of infeasibility for the solicitation of the goods or
services through the Competitive Procurement process, account for any additional circumstances
related to the use of the Sole Source Procurement process and retain all significant records
related to the procurement procedures for at least six years after the final payment or expiration
or termination of the City Contract (or for such longer period as may be required by law).

The Corporation shall perform, document and retain cost or price analysis in connection
with all procurements, including contract modifications. The Corporation shall determine the
method and degree of analysis to be preformed based on the facts and circumstances surrounding
the particular procurement situation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, the Corporation
shall make independent estimates before receiving bids or proposals. With respect to all Sole
Source Procurements, no such cost or price analysis shall be required, however, if price
reasonableness can be established on the basis of a catalog or market price of a commercial
product sold in substantial quantities to the general public or based on prices set by law or
regulation.

Section 4.  Consulting Contracts
a. Provisions to be Included in Consulting Contracts

To the extent applicable, consulting and professional services contracts shall contain any
provisions required pursuant to the City Contract or any other applicable contract or law and
shall otherwise be consistent with the Corporation's policies.

b. Consulting Contract Amendments

Contracts may be amended by the Corporation to extend the term, increase the maximum
contract price, change the scope and for any other reason; provided, that:

l. with respect to a consulting or professional services contract resulting from a
Small Purchase Procurement, any amendment to increase the maximum contract
price to greater than $100,000 shall not be permitted except in accordance with
this Policy, the Corporation's other applicable policies (if any) and prevailing
practices; and

2, with respect to a consulting or professional services contract resulting from a
Micro-Purchase Procurement, any amendment to increase the maximum contract
price to greater than $20,000 shall not be permitted except in accordance with this
Policy, the Corporation's other applicable policies (if any) and prevailing
practices.

Section 5. Insurance

The Corporation shall cause all contractors to maintain insurance coverage in accordance
with the Corporation's policies, as they relate to contractors, and applicable law.
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Section 6. Loans and Credit Enhancements

All agreements for or relating to loans, credit enhancements or equity investments shall
not be considered a contract for purposes of this Policy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors of
New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
("NYCEEC"), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of NYCEEC as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

New York, NY
October 31, 2017

Morison KSi

Independent member



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 2H and 3)
Government grants receivable (Notes 2K and 5)
Contributions receivable (Notes 2J and 4)
Fees and interest receivable (Note 2L)
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 6 and 12)
Restricted cash - escrows held (Note 8)
Restricted deposit with NYCHDC (Note 7)
Loans receivable, net (Notes 2D, 2E, and 6)
Property and equipment, net (Notes 2F and 11)

Total noncurrent assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 2G and 9)
Notes payable (Note 12)

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Escrows due (Note 8)

Notes payable (Note 12)
Loans serviced on behalf of third parties (Note 9)

Total noncurrent liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 13)

NET ASSETS (Note 2B)

Unrestricted
Temporarily restricted (Note 14)

TOTAL NET ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

2017 2016
$ 3184767 $ 2,564,382
368,359 5,715,314
100,000 185,000
472,897 312,349
49,490 36,847
4,175,513 8,813,892
7,075,930 5,552,571
1,082,327 1,127,502
985,000 985,000
38,789,069 31,169,702
129,759 119,225
48,062,085 38,954,000
$ 52,237,598 § 47,767,892
$ 703,406 $ 494,635
40,000 -
743,406 494,635
1,082,327 1,127,502
8,524,000 5,150,000
2,473,284 415,790
12,079,611 6,693,292
12,823,017 7,187,927
2,207,189 2,519,567
37,207,392 38,060,398
39,414,581 40,579,965
$ 52237598 § 47,767,892

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions (Note 2J and 4)
Government grants (Notes 2K and 5)
Fee income (Note 2L)
Interest from loans receivable (Note 2L)
Miscellaneous income
Interest income from banks (Note 2M)
Net assets released from restrictions (Notes 2B and 14)

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUE
EXPENSES
Program services

Management and administration
Fundraising

TOTAL EXPENSES
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

Net assets - beginning of year

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Temporarily Total Temporarily Total
Unrestricted Restricted 2017 Unrestricted Restricted 2016
$ - $ 200,000 $ 200,000 $ - $ 300,000 $ 300,000
1,258,745 - 1,258,745 1,127,280 5,000,000 6,127,280
177,466 - 177,466 360,082 - 360,082
2,750,751 - 2,750,751 1,802,301 - 1,802,301
- - - 933 - 933
5,726 - 5,726 2,899 - 2,899

1,053,006 (1,053,006) - 637,578 (637,578) -
5,245,694 (853,006) 4,392,688 3,931,073 4,662,422 8,593,495
4,814,896 - 4,814,896 2,336,047 - 2,336,047
671,734 - 671,734 598,769 - 598,769
71,442 - 71,442 66,864 - 66,864
5,558,072 - 5,558,072 3,001,680 - 3,001,680
(312,378) (853,006) (1,165,384) 929,393 4,662,422 5,591,815
2,519,567 38,060,398 40,579,965 1,590,174 33,397,976 34,988,150
$ 2,207,189 $ 37,207,392 $ 39,414,581 $ 2,519,567 $ 38,060,398 $ 40,579,965

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and employee benefits (Note 15)

Total personnel services

Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy (Note 13B)

Utilities

Insurance

Travel, meetings and conferences
Supplies and office expense

Telecom, internet and website

Postage and delivery

Minor furniture, equipment and leases
Payroll and benefits processing fees
Banking, finance and miscellaneous fees (Note 12)
Depreciation and amortization (Note 11)

Total expenses before provision for loan losses

Provision for loan losses (Notes 2E and 6)

Total expenses

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

(With Summarized Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2016)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017

Supporting Services

Program Management 2017 2016
Services and Administration Fundraising Total Total
$ 1,483,133 $ 269,607 $ 52,272 1,805,012 1,698,039
314,932 57,249 11,100 383,281 345,695
1,798,065 326,856 63,372 2,188,293 2,043,734
429,134 277,842 2,229 709,205 588,421
89,689 22,540 2,471 114,700 114,700
3,992 1,003 110 5,105 2,246
25,520 6,414 703 32,637 31,406
15,300 3,845 422 19,567 14,462
9,470 2,380 261 12,111 9,532
45,060 4,068 446 49,574 23,370
990 249 27 1,266 1,332
481 121 13 615 2,191
- 11,190 - 11,190 12,014
382,510 2,607 4 385,121 104,834
50,211 12,619 1,384 64,214 53,438
2,850,422 671,734 71,442 3,593,598 3,001,680
1,964,474 - - 1,964,474 -
$ 4814896 $ 671,734  § 71,442 5,558,072 3,001,680

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and employee benefits (Note 15)

Total personnel services

Professional and consulting fees
Occupancy (Note 13B)

Utilities

Insurance

Travel, meetings and conferences
Supplies and office expense
Telecom, internet and website
Postage and delivery

Minor furniture, equipment and leases
Payroll and benefits processing fees

Banking, finance and miscellaneous fees (Note 12)

Depreciation and amortization (Note 11)

Total expenses

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

Supporting Services

Program Management
Services and Administration Fundraising Total
$ 1,371,966  $ 275,673 50,400 1,698,039
279,312 56,123 10,260 345,695
1,651,278 331,796 60,660 2,043,734
385,105 202,652 664 588,421
88,636 23,454 2,610 114,700
1,736 459 51 2,246
24,269 6,422 715 31,406
11,176 2,957 329 14,462
7,366 1,949 217 9,532
20,157 2,891 322 23,370
1,030 272 30 1,332
1,693 448 50 2,191
- 12,014 - 12,014
102,306 2,528 - 104,834
41,295 10,927 1,216 53,438
$ 2,336,047 $ 598,769 66,864 3,001,680

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Change in net assets $

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for loan losses
Amortization of deferred rent

Subtotal

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Government grants receivable
Contributions receivable
Fees and interest receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Cash held in escrow
Interest capitalized
Loans disbursed
Loan payments received
Repayment of restricted deposit
Acquisitions of property and equipment

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayments of notes payable
Funds paid to other capital providers
Funds received from other capital providers

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents — Beginning of the year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $

RECONCILIATION TO CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR:

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—END OF YEAR $

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for interest $

2017 2016
(1,165,384) 5,591,815
64,214 53,438
1,964,474 -
(8,060) (8,059)
855,244 5,637,194
5,346,955 (5,651,085)
85,000 110,000
(160,548) (203,176)
(12,643) (75)
216,831 96,904
6,330,839 (10,238)
(45,175) 273,539
(1,323,261) (316,868)
(12,593,399) (16,327,663)
4,332,819 3,225,130
- 1,515,000
(74,748) (2,730)
(9,703,764) (11,633,592)
3,414,000 5,515,458
- (2,113,325)
(111,498) (101,371)
2,168,992 171,119
5,471,494 3,471,881
2,098,569 (8,171,949)
9,244,455 17,416,404
11,343,024 9,244,455
3,184,767 2,564,382
8.158.257 6.680.073
11,343,024 9,244,455
229,980 110,597

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (“NYCEEC”) is a non-profit, specialty finance company that provides
loans and innovative financing solutions, coupled with technical engineering guidance, to help building owners
undertake energy efficiency and clean energy projects that reduce greenhouse gas emission and save money.
NYCEEC finances energy efficiency, combined heat and power, fuel conversion, demand response and building-
scale renewable energy projects.

NYCEEC is governed by a Board of Directors whose membership includes public officials and private individuals.
In fiscal year 2014, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors voted to become self-perpetuating and NYCEEC is no longer a
component unit of The City of New York (the “City”).

On November 29, 2012, NYCEEC received notice from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) that its tax-exempt
status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code was approved, and it is exempt from federal income
taxes. NYCEEC is considered a public charity under Section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi). NYCEEC was incorporated under
the laws of the State of New York (the “State”) and is exempt from State and local income and sales taxes.

NYCEEC makes construction and permanent loans and provides credit enhancement in the form of loan loss
reserves exclusively for energy efficiency and clean energy projects in buildings. NYCEEC also partners with
various lending organizations to finance such projects while encouraging best practices with respect to energy
efficiency retrofit implementation and ongoing performance monitoring.

NYCEEC's project loans are primarily funded by Federal funds as well as funds received from the City, private
banks and philanthropic foundations. NYCEEC’s operations are primarily funded through earnings on its project
loans and funds received through the contract with the City as well as several philanthropic grants that NYCEEC
has been awarded since inception.

In accordance with its governing documents, NYCEEC officers have the responsibility to approve or disapprove
certain financing transactions while other transactions must be approved by certain members of the Board of
Directors.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Basis of Accounting

The accompanying financial statements of NYCEEC have been prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting and conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as
applicable to not-for-profit organizations as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).

B. Basis of Presentation

NYCEEC is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to three
classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted net assets and permanently restricted net assets.

Unrestricted — include expendable resources that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and, therefore,
may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of NYCEEC.

Temporarily restricted — include resources subject to donor-imposed stipulations that limit their use either
through purpose or time restrictions. When donor restrictions expire, that is, when a time restriction ends or a
purpose restriction is accomplished, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified as unrestricted net
assets and reported as net assets released from restrictions.



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Permanently restricted — include resources subject to donor-imposed stipulations, requiring that the principal
be maintained in perpetuity, but permit NYCEEC to expend part or all of the income and gains derived
therefrom. There were no permanently restricted net assets at June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

C. Functional Allocation of Expenses

The costs of providing NYCEEC’s program and supporting services have been summarized on a functional
basis in the accompanying statements of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated between
program and supporting services based on an analysis of personnel time and space utilized for the related
activities.

D. Loans Receivable

Loans receivable are funds utilized for financing clean energy and energy efficiency projects. Loans receivable
represent funds drawn by borrowers and interest capitalized on those funds. Non-capitalized interest on
borrowed funds is recognized as interest receivable. The loan terms vary and have repayment periods of up to
twelve years.

Loans are considered past due when payment of scheduled principal or interest is not received within 30 days
from the payment due date. NYCEEC's policy places a loan on non-accrual status when payments of principal
or interest are 120 days past due or more unless the loan is in the process of collection and management
reasonably expects full collection. Management may place a loan on non-accrual whether the loan is past due
or when it is evident that full payment of the loan is not expected. Interest on non-accrual loans will not be
recognized on an accrual basis from the point they are placed on non-accrual. A non-accrual loan will be
returned to accrual status when all past due payments are brought current and management believes
repayment of contractually owed principal and interest is reasonably assured.

E. Provision for Uncollectible Amounts

NYCEEC establishes a provision for possible uncollectible amounts based on an analysis of receivables
deemed uncollectible. During the year ending June 30, 2017, NYCEEC instituted a policy based on its internal
evaluation of the individual loans and their associated risk, and recorded an initial provision expense of
$1,964,474. These amounts are recorded in the accompanying financial statements under loans receivable or
fees and Interest receivable as applicable (see Note 6).

As of June 30, 2017 and 2016 the accompanying financial statements included provisions of $1,964,474 and
$0, respectively.

F. Property and Equipment

It is NYCEEC's policy to capitalize property and equipment with a cost over $1,000 and a useful life of at least
three years. Property and equipment are stated at their original costs or at their fair values at the dates of
donation. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. Expenditures
for leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the lease term.

G. Deferred Rent

NYCEEC records rent expenses associated with its office lease on a straight-line basis over the life of the
lease. The difference between the straight-line amount and the amount actually paid during the year is
recorded as a liability and an expense in the accompanying financial statements. Included in accounts payable
and accrued expenses in the accompanying financial statements is a deferred rent liability of $19,880 and
$27,940 as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

H.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, NYCEEC considers all highly liquid investments available for
current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as
well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Contributions and Contributions Receivable

Contribution revenue is recorded at fair value when the donor makes an unconditional promise to give.
Amounts are recorded as temporarily or permanently restricted if they have donor stipulations that limit the use
of the donated asset. When a donor restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or
purpose restriction is accomplished), temporarily restricted assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets
and reported in the statement of activities as contributions released from restrictions. Conditional promises to
give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met.

Grant funds are released from restriction as eligible operating and capital expenses are incurred. When both
restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is NYCEEC’s policy to use restricted resources
first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Contributions to be received over periods longer than a single year are discounted at an interest rate
commensurate with the risk involved, unless deemed to be de minimis.

Government Grants, Government Grants Receivable and Unearned Revenue

Government grant revenue is recognized when earned. Government grant funds from the City used to
capitalize NYCEEC's revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund is recorded as grant revenue when
committed and funding is certain. Expense driven grants are recognized as revenue when qualifying expenses
have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met. Government grant funds received prior to
qualifying expenses being incurred are recorded as unearned revenue.

Government grants receivable consists of eligible costs under government grants that were incurred prior to
the fiscal year-end and funds committed for the loan fund and loan loss reserve fund for which payment has
not been received.

Program Revenue and Fees and Interest Receivable

Program revenue includes income from interest and fees on loans and loan loss reserve transactions. Such
income is recognized when earned. Fees are due and payable when earned.

When interest is capitalized during the construction period, it is reflected as loans receivable. Interest is due
and payable monthly or quarterly based on the amortization schedule shared with the borrower.

. Investment Income

Investment income reflects the earnings on the cash and cash equivalents of NYCEEC held with financial
institutions.



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 3 — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At June 30, 2017, NYCEEC's bank balance was $11,393,805 compared to its book balance of $11,343,024. The
difference between the bank balance and book balance of $50,781 relates to reconciling items in the NYCEEC
operating account. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC") insurance and $10,717,376 was fully collateralized under a pledge and assignment agreement with JP
Morgan Chase. The remaining $426,430 is uncollateralized.

NOTE 4 — CONTRIBUTIONS

NYCEEC was awarded a total of $200,000 and $300,000 in private foundation funding during the years ended June
30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Since inception, NYCEEC has been awarded $5.4 million in private foundation
funding. Of this amount, $100,000 and $185,000 was outstanding as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is
reflected in contributions receivable in the accompanying statements of financial position.

As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, the contributions receivable were due to be collected as follows:

2017 2016
Less than one year $ 100,000 $ 185,000
Total $ 100,000 $ 185,000

NOTE 5 — GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRACTS

In 2011, NYCEEC was awarded an allocation from the City under the Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block
Grant Program (“EECBG”) in the amount of $37.5 million, which was received in full. NYCEEC has received $37.5
million from the City since inception. Of this amount, a total of $32.8 million was used to capitalize a revolving loan
fund and loan loss reserve fund and has been recorded as grant revenue in prior periods.

The City committed to funding NYCEEC an additional $8.2 million over three years, beginning June 2015 for
additional clean energy financing and related services. Of this $8.2 million, $5 million was used to capitalize a
revolving loan fund and has been recorded as revenue in the statement of activities. NYCEEC recorded a
receivable balance from the City at June 30, 2016 of $688,209 for expenditures incurred, and $5 million for the
loan funds. These amounts were fully collected in fiscal year 2017. As of June 30, 2017, $272,421 was including in
government grants receivable on the accompanying financial statements for expenditures incurred. The City shall
make further allocations to NYCEEC upon request and submission.

As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, net assets received under the contract with the City and restricted for purposes of
the revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund were approximately $36.8 million and $37.7 million, respectively
(see Note 14). In the year ending June 30, 2017, approximately $828,000 of loan funding from the City was
released from restrictions to cover the provision for loan losses on anticipated uncollectible loans receivable
funded by the City.

NOTE 6 — LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS

A. Loans and Collateral Commitments

NYCEEC has received federal grants and a private grant that are to be utilized for financing clean energy and
energy efficiency. NYCEEC has also secured participant lenders and other borrowing facilities to fund its
project loan portfolio. Through June 30, 2017, NYCEEC has closed fifty-five financing transactions, totaling
approximately $63 million. These fifty-five transactions have consisted of six loan loss reserve transactions
totaling $12.2 million and forty-nine loans totaling $50.8 million since inception.
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 6 — LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Of the $50.8 million in NYCEEC loan commitments, $46.8 million has been drawn by borrowers through June
30, 2017 and approximately $5.0 million remains to be drawn. In fiscal year 2017, interest of $1,323,261 was
capitalized and added to principal. NYCEEC has collected approximately $4.3 million in principal repayments
in fiscal year 2017. NYCEEC recorded approximately $40.7 million and $31.2 million in loans receivable at
June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

2017 2016
Loans receivable, beginning $ 31,169,702 $ 17,750,301
Loan disbursements 12,593,399 16,327,663
Interest capitalization 1,323,261 316,868
Loan repayments (4,332,819) (3,225,130)
Loans receivable, ending 40,753,543 31,169,702
Less provision (1,964,474) -
Loans receivable, net $ 38,789,069 $ 31,169,702

The following is a summary of the scheduled principal repayments to be received on all of NYCEEC's loans
(before the provision for uncollectible amounts):

2017 2016
Less than one year $ 5,005,867 $ 4,468,251
Due within one to five years 10,196,153 9,274,913
Due after five years 25,551,523 17,426,538

$ 40,753,543 $ 31,169,702

B. Concentrations

As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, borrowers with outstanding balances in excess of 10% of the gross loans
receivable accounted for 56% and 43% of the portfolio, respectively. As of June 30, 2017, the largest
concentrations of loans receivables are with three borrowers across five loans and amount to approximately $9.7
million, $8.1 million, and $4.0 million representing approximately 25%, 21%, and 10% of NYCEEC's loan portfolio,
net of participations. As of June 30, 2016, the largest concentrations of loans receivables are with two borrowers
across three loans and amount to approximately $8.5 million and $4.9 million representing approximately 27%,
and 16% of NYCEEC's loan portfolio, net of participations.

C. Ratings and Provisions

NYCEEC uses an internal rating system to determine borrower repayment risk and the appropriate provision.
The definitions of the rating levels are summarized below, in addition to amounts provisioned based on
analysis of specific receivables deemed uncollectible. Provisions calculated do not include amounts serviced
on behalf of third parties.

1. Pass provisioned at 2% of outstanding principal balance: The borrower and the loan are both performing
fully to projections and project milestones, or better, with no sign of deterioration in any of the major
performance criteria.

2. Watch/Attention provisioned at 10% of outstanding principal balance: Deterioration in one or more major
financial performance criteria is a trend requiring increased scrutiny and possible intervention with the
borrower.

-11 -



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 6 — LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

3. Doubtful/Substandard provisioned at 20% of outstanding principal balance: Borrower or loan shows
significant deterioration, requiring restructuring and intervention. Negative trends cannot be easily
reversed, and payment on the original terms is extremely doubtful.

An analysis of the allowance for uncollectible amounts as of June 30, 2017 by rating category is
summarized as follows:

Classification Loans Receivable Loan-Loss Reserves Provision 6/30/17 Total
Specific $ 5,828,701 $ - $ (828,141) $ 5,000,560
1 32,305,142 985,000 (616,333) 32,673,809
2 - - - -
3 2,600,000 - (520,000) 2,080,000
$ 40,733,843 $ 985,000 $ (1,964.474) $ 39,754,369

NOTE 7 — RESTRICTED DEPOSIT WITH NYCHDC

NYCEEC provided $2.5 million to NYCHDC for the establishment of the Program for Energy Reduction Loans
(“PERL”) loan loss reserve account. In fiscal year 2016, NYCHDC repaid NYCEEC $1.5 million to reduce the
amount held to $985,000. There was no additional repayment in fiscal year 2017, and as of June 30, 2017, the
amounts held in reserve were $985,000. This reserve account is maintained by NYCHDC for the benefit of
NYCHDC and NYCEEC. NYCHDC may invest the funds on deposit in the reserve account in one or more
permitted investments selected by NYCHDC in its sole discretion. All proceeds and earnings of these investments
benefit NYCEEC and are paid by NYCHDC to NYCEEC quarterly. If there are any losses on permitted
investments, NYCHDC shall deposit the amount of such loss in the reserve account. During the years ended June
30, 2017 and 2016, earnings on this reserve fund were $6,393 and $37,349, respectively, and such amounts are
included in interest from loans receivable in the accompanying financial statements.

NOTE 8 — ESCROWS HELD AND ESCROWS DUE

Two NYCEEC borrowers have contributed funds to capitalize certain loss reserves in respect of financed projects.
The first borrower makes monthly payments to fund reserves balances and quarterly principal and interest payments
on the loan. During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, these payments and interest accrued have
(decreased)/increased the amounts held in reserve by approximately $(45,000) and $304,000, respectively. To the
extent that such funds are not used to repay any amounts owed and unpaid to NYCEEC under the loan agreement, a
portion will be returned to the borrower on an annual basis and the balance at the term of the transaction, based on
the loan agreement. The second borrower has funded certain reserves during construction of approximately $99,000
in fiscal year 2017 as per schedules established in the associated loan agreements. Such reserves are held in
escrow in respect of the financed projects.

NOTE 9 — OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - LOANS SERVICED ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES

Pursuant to a contractual arrangement between NYSERDA and NYCEEC, NYSERDA contributed $721,332 to the
origination of seven project loans which has been disbursed to borrowers. Funds have been disbursed on a pro-rata
basis with NYCEEC capital in accordance with the loan terms, and will be returned to NYSERDA concurrently as loan
repayments are made to NYCEEC. As such, NYCEEC is servicing this loan on behalf of NYSERDA. The repayment
of funds to NYSERDA is made on a non-recourse basis.
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 9 — OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES — LOANS SERVICED ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES
(Continued)

During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, NYCEEC made repayments to NYSERDA of $111,498 and
$101,371, respectively. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, $329,504 and $418,990, respectively, is due to NYSERDA, of
which $0 and $3,199, respectively, is reflected in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying
statements of financial position. The balance is reflected as loans serviced on behalf of NYSERDA in the
accompanying statements of financial position.

Pursuant to a contractual arrangement with a third-party participant to co-fund one project loan, $2,143,779 has been
contributed by the third-party capital in accordance with the loan terms during the year ended June 30, 2017. Inclusive
of NYSERDA and this private investor, the total loan participations serviced on behalf of third parties as of June 30,
2017 and 2016 were $2,473,283 and $418,990, respectively.

NOTE 10 — RISK MANAGEMENT

NYCEEC has standard commercial insurance coverage to mitigate typical operational risk.

NYCEEC extends financing for both clean energy and energy efficiency retrofit projects and in this capacity
NYCEEC is exposed to the risk of non-payment of fees, interest and return of principal. In cooperation with its
Board of Directors and consultants, NYCCEC has instituted transaction-specific underwriting standards, due
diligence and credit approval procedures, and monitoring procedures to mitigate these risks.

NOTE 11 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2017 and 2016:

Estimated
2017 2016 Useful Lives
Leasehold improvements $ 196,677 $ 196,677 5 Years
Software 35,493 - 3 Years
Computers and equipment 72,888 33,633 3 Years
Total cost 305,058 230,310
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (175,299) (111,085)
Net book value $ 129,759 $ 119,225

Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $64,214 and $53,438, respectively, for the years ended June 30,
2017 and 2016.

NOTE 12 — NOTES PAYABLE

On December 31, 2014, NYCEEC was awarded a working capital recoverable grant of $120,000 from the Deutsche
Bank Americas Foundation over three years. This award is treated as a zero-interest loan and must be repaid over
three years following the grant period. As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, NYCEEC had received $120,000 and $80,000,
respectively, under the award. $40,000 is included in notes payable- current and $80,000 is included in notes payable
- noncurrent.

On November 17, 2015, NYCEEC entered into an agreement with FJC, a New York not-for-profit corporation, for a
term loan facility to support an energy improvement and cogeneration project with a maximum borrowing capacity
of $2.95 million and which matures May 31, 2018. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed under the note at prime
+ 3% per annum and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2017, NYCEEC had drawn $1,704,000 under the note. This
amount is included in notes payable — noncurrent.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

NOTE 12 — NOTES PAYABLE (Continued)

On April 15, 2016, NYCEEC entered into an agreement with Bank of America (“BOA”) for a term loan facility with a
maximum borrowing capacity of $10 million, which may be drawn through October 15, 2017 and which matures
April 15, 2024. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed under the note at 3% per annum and is paid quarterly. As of
June 30, 2017, NYCEEC had drawn $4,740,000 under the note. This amount is included in notes payable —
noncurrent.

On July 1, 2016, NYCEEC entered into agreement with the MacArthur Foundation for a term-loan program related
investment in the amount of $5 million, which may be drawn through June 30, 2018 and which matures July 1,
2031. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed under the note at 1% per annum and is paid quarterly. As of June
30, 2017, NYCEEC had drawn $2 million under the note. This amount is included in notes payable — noncurrent.

On July 26, 2016, NYCEEC entered into agreement with Deutsche Bank for a revolving loan facility in the amount
of $5 million, which may be drawn through July 26, 2017 and which matures July 26, 2019. Interest accrues on
amounts borrowed under the note at LIBOR + 2.25% per annum and is paid quarterly. The facility is subject to an
unused facility fee, which accrues on amounts committed but unborrowed at two tenths of one percent (0.20%)
and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2017, NYCEEC had not made any draws under the note.

NOTE 13 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. Contingencies for Future Audits by Governmental Funding Sources

Pursuant to NYCEEC's contractual relationships with its governmental funding sources, governmental agencies
have the right to examine NYCEEC’s books and records involving transactions relating to these contracts. The
accompanying financial statements make no provision for possible disallowances.

B. Lease Commitments

On May 29, 2014, NYCEEC entered into a lease for the use of facilities in Manhattan which extends through
December 31, 2018. The lease is subject to escalations for increases in real estate taxes and other operating
expenses.

As of June 30, 2017, minimum future obligations under this lease were approximately as follows:

Fiscal year 2018 $ 127,000
Fiscal year 2019 65,000
$ 192,000

Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 amounted to $114,700 and $114,701, respectively,
and is included in occupancy costs in the accompanying statement of functional expenses.

C. Income Taxes

NYCEEC believes it had no uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2017 and 2016 in accordance with FASB
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 (“Income Taxes”), which provides standards for establishing and
classifying any tax provisions for uncertain tax positions
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NOTE 14 — TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

For the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, temporarily restricted net assets were $37,207,392 and
$38,060,398, respectively. Of this amount, $368,460 and $393,326, respectively, has been received from private
sources to fund future NYCEEC operations and $36,838,932 and $37,667,072, respectively, is intended to fund
the revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund.

As of June 30, 2017 and 2016, temporarily restricted net assets were restricted for the following:

2017 2016

Revolving loan and loan loss reserve fund $ 36,838,932 $ 32,667,072
Time restrictions 368,460 393,326
Net book value $ 37,207,392 $ 38,060,398

During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, $1,053,006 and $637,578, respectively, in allowable expenditures
satisfied donor restrictions. In the year ending June 30, 2017, these amounts included approximately $828,000 in
funding released to cover the provision for loan losses on anticipated uncollectible loans receivable. Such amounts
are recorded as net assets released from restriction in the accompanying statements of activities.

NOTE 15 — RETIREMENT PLAN

NYCEEC maintains a contributory, defined-contribution 401(k) plan covering all employees who meet specific
eligibility requirements. The plan is an elective, deferred-salary arrangement. NYCEEC makes safe-harbor
contributions matching employee contributions up to 3% of salary and half of employee contributions between 3%
and 5%. Employee contributions and employer safe-harbor contributions are considered fully vested. NYCEEC
may elect to make additional matching contributions on behalf of employees. Additional matching contributions are
considered fully vested after six years of service. During the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, NYCEEC
contributions into the 401(k) plan on behalf of active employees totaled $68,152 and $53,127, respectively, and
are included in payroll taxes and employee benefits in the accompanying financial statements.

NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

NYCEEC has evaluated, for potential recognition and disclosure, events subsequent to the date of the statement
of financial position through October 31, 2017, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

On July 5, 2017, NYCEEC drew $1,600,000 under its facility with Deutsche Bank to fund eligible loans.

On August 14, 2017, NYCEEC filed suit in New York County Supreme Court against a borrower and related
parties disrupting the release of a NYCEEC lien on properties under construction for a financed project. This
project represents approximately 6% of the outstanding loans receivable as of June 30, 2017. Based on analysis
of the loan, it has been placed in rating category 3 and a provision of 20% has been recorded against the
outstanding principal balance. As of July 1, 2017, this loan has been placed on non-accrual status due to delays in
payment of interest. Counsel has advised of the material risk of a countersuit in an amount in excess of $25,000.

On August 31, 2017, NYCEEC signed an amendment to its existing note with Deutsche Bank extending its draw
period to July 26, 2018 and maturity on the note to July 26, 2020.

On September 20, 2017, NYCEEC drew $2,519,000 under its facility with Bank of America to fund eligible loans.

On September 21, 2017, NYCEEC repaid in full its outstanding notes with FJC along with interest accrued
thereon.
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NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Continued)

On September 26, 2017, NYCEEC received a notice of award from the New York City Department of
Environmental Protection confirming extension of NYCEEC's contractual relationship with the City through May 31,
2022.

As of September 30, 2017, construction was not completed in line with the amended loan agreements of a
NYCEEC-financed project due to a delay in receipt of Con Edison permits and certain related matters. This delay
will require the project to secure additional financing to finish construction. Principal amortization of this loan,
representing approximately 24% of the outstanding loans receivable as of June 30, 2017, has been delayed.
Project completion is now anticipated during the first quarter of 2018. Management is actively monitoring the
project and will make any changes to the loan rating category and related provisions as warranted.
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STATE OF NEW YORK

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

I hereby certify that the annexed copy has been compared with the
original document in the custody of the Secretary of State and that the same
is a true copy of said original.

WITNESS my hand and official seal of
the Department of State, at the City of
o &$ gy ¥, Albany, on October 21, 2010.

«® * S‘.

Daniel E. Shapiro
L TPPTTTY First Deputy Secretary of State

Rev. 06/07



o 101021000625
CT-07 - ?
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

A Not-For-Profit Corporation
under Section 402 of the Not-For-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York

THE UNDERSIGNED, a natural person of the age of eighteen or over, for the
purpose of forming a not-for-profit corporation pursuant';to Section 402 of the Not-For-Profit

Corporation Law of the State of New York, hereby certifies as follows:

FIRST: The name of the corporation is New York City Energy
Efficiency Corporation (hereinafier referred to as the “Corporation”).

. SECOND: The Corporation is a corporation as defined in
subparagraph (a)(5) of Section 102 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New
York (the “Not-For-Profit Corporation Law™) and shall be a Type C Corporation as defined in

Section 201 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law,

THIRD: " The purposes for which the Corporation is formed and will
be operated are tﬂe exclusively charitable purposes, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), of lessening the burdens of
government and protecting the public interest by implementing the greenhouse gas reduction
plans of The City of New York (the “City"), including without limitation the provision of
funding and financing to property owners in the City for the installation of renewable energy
systems and energy efficiency improvements, the development and aggregation of demand for
such funding and financing through education, marketing, and outreach efforts, the coordination
and development of related workforce development activities, and the promotion of innovative |
energy initiatives that deliver short- and long-term economic and environmental benefits to City

residents (the “Sustainable Energy Program”).

FOURTH: In advancing such purposes, the Corporation will be
performing an essential government function on behalf of the City within the meaning of Section
115(1) of the Code. In furtherance of the promotion of the public interest and said Program and

purposes, the Corporation shall have the power to engage in activities (subject to such



restrictions and limitations as may be imposed on not-for-profit corporations by this Certificate
of Incorporation, the Not-For-Profit-Corporation Law, or by any other. applicable faw) including

the following:

(a) to establish the terms, conditions, procedures and requirements to
effectuate and implement the planning, development, operation and financing of the Sustainable

. Energy Program in partnership with the City;

(b)  to negotiate and consummate the acquisition, disposition, transfer or other -

conveyance of real or.personal property related to ‘any energy efficiency improvement or
renewable energy system, as sﬁch terms may from time to time be defined under the laws of the
State of New York or the United States, as buyer, seller, lessee, lessor, assignee or assignor or
otherwise in relation to enabling, implementing, promotihg. or assisting activities in connection

with the Sustainable Energy Program;

(©) to enter into contracts, agreements, leases, licenses and other similar
arrangements and instruments (to the extent permitted by, and consistent with, the purposes of

the Corporation) with any public or private entity in furtherance of the purposes specified herein;

{d) - to acquire, construct, inipro've, develop, renovate, rehabilitate, revitalize or
replace, any and all energy efficiency improvement or rencwable energy system and the
operation and maintenance thereof and to support or enhance, directly or indirectly, the financing

Ve

ot refinancing of same;

(e) to engage the services of one or more developets, contractors, consultants,

engineers, brokers, planners, construction managers, property managers, architects, attorneys,

advisors, trustees, concessionaires, operators and all other service providers whose services shall

be necessary or desirable in connection with the activities of the Corporation,;

H to cniploy any number of part-time or full-time employees to carry out the

purposes of the Corporation and the activities referred to herein;

(g)  to apply for, accept, administer and comply with the terms of, any éifts,

" grants, subsidies, guarantees or loans of funds or property or financial or other aid in any form

e n e o2t o
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from the federal government or any agency or instrumentality therebf, or from the State of New
York or the City or any agency or instrumentality thereof or from any other source, for any or ali

of the purposes specified herein;

(h)  to receive, administer and comply with the conditions and requirements
respecting donations from individuals, public or private entities or from any other source, for any

or all of the purposes specified herein;

(i)  to receive moneys derived from any energy efficiency improvem’eﬁt or
renewable energy system including, without limitation, charges and other moneys related to
and/or necessary for the development, operation and repayment, support or enhanc_ement of any
financing for any such improvement or system (together, “Revenues™) and to assign, sell or
pledge such Revenues to the City or any other entity in furtherance of the purposes referred to

herein;

(j)  to create or enter into and participate as members in (and in connection
therewith, exercise any and all power and right that such membership conveys) limited
partnérships’, limited liability companies, contracts, leases, licenses and other similar
arrangements, give guarantees and incur liabilities, borrow money at such rates of interest as the
Corporation may determine, to secure the payment of any of its debt or other obligations by
mortgage, pledge or assigmﬁent of its Revenues, securities, contracts or property whe rever
situated, and to amend any such agréement or arrangement relating to the same, in each case

upon such terms as it may determine;

(k)  to lend money or provide other financing in furtherance of the purposes
specified herein, invest and reinvest its funds, and take and hold real and personal property as

security for the payment of funds so loaned, financed or invested,;

()] to accrue, assign or pay over to the City, or to such entity as the City may
direct, as and to the extent the City may direct, Revenues derived. from or in connection with the

Sustainable Energy Program; and -

’

PO



(m) to perform any and all acts and ihings, and exercise any and all powers

which may now or ht_:réaﬁer be lawful for the Corporation to perform or exercise under the laws
of the State of New York for the purpose of accomplishing any of the purposes referred to

herein.

FIFTH: Nothing herein shall authorize the Corporation to engage in
any of the activities mentioned in Section 404(a) through (w) of the Not-For-Profit Corporation

Law.

SIXTH: The purposes referred to in paragraph THIRD above will
achieve the lawful public objective of assisting the City in the implementation of the Sustainable

{

Energy Program and providing improved quality of life for the residents of the City.

-~

SEVENTH: The duration of the Corporation is to be perpetual.

EIGHTH: The Corporation is not formed for pecuniary profit or for
financial gain. The property of the Corporation is irrevocably dedicated to its charitable
purposes. All income and earnings of the Corporation shall be used exclusively for its corporate
purposes. No part of the income or earnings of the Corporatidn shall inure to the benefit or profit
of, nor shall any distribution of its property or assets be made to any membet, director or officer
of the Corporation; or private person, corpbrate or individual, or to any other private interest,
except that the Corporation shall be authorized to pay reasonable compensation for goods
pufchased or services rendered in connection“with the furtherance of the purposes of the

- Corporation set forth herein.

NINTH: (2) No substantial part (within the fneaning and for the
purposes of Sections 501(c)(3) and 501(h) of the Code) of the activities of the Corporation shall
consist of atténﬁpting to influence legislation by propaganda or othierwise. Nor shall the
Corporation directly or indirectly participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing_or

distributing of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for public office.



(b) The Corporation shall not engage in any activities not
permitted to be carried out by an organization exempt from federal income taxation pursuant to
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder or by a corporation

contributions to which are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Code.

N .
TENTH: In the event of dissolution of the Corporation or the

' windihg up of its affairs, the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall, after paying or making

provision for the payment of all of the debts and liabilities of the Corporation, distribute all of the
remaining assets and property of the Corporation to (i) the City for a public purpose or (ii) an

organizaﬁon described in Section 501(0)(3)'of the Code or whose income is also excludible from

-gross income under Section 115(1) of the Code. Any of such assets not so disposed of shall be

disposed of by order of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, pursuant to Section 1008 of
the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.

ELEVENTH: - The office of the Corporation shall be located in the County

of New York in the State of New York.

TWELFTH: The Corporation will have Members. The rights and
c¢onditions of membership will be stated in the By-laws of the Corporation. The By-laws of the
Corporation in‘ay be adopted, amended or repealed by a majority of the Directors of the .

Corporation.

THIRTEENTH:  The Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors,
which shall, prior to the adoption of the Corporaiion"s By-laws, be comprised of those persons
named below each of whom shall serve as Director until her or his successor has been appointed
and qualified in accordance with_the ‘By-laws of the Corporétio‘n, The names, offices and

addresses of the initial Directors of the Corporation, each of whom is of legal age to so act, are as

follows:
Name Office Address
David Bragdon A Director, Mayor’s Office of Long- 253 Broadway, 10™ Floor

Term Planning and Sustainability New York, New York 10007




Stephen Goldsmith : Deputy Mayor for Operations City Hall
‘ ' : New York, New York 10007

Anthony W. Crowell , Counselor to the M‘;ayor ~ City Hall
New York, New York 10007
The term “Director” as used herein shall include any alternate director designated
in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. Each of the Directors shall serve for the
term of office provided in the By-laws and shall be removed from office and replaced as
provided in the By-laws. | |
| Each meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be conducted in
the mannet prescribed by the Open Meetings Law of the State of New York (Section 100 ef seq.
of the Public Officers Law of the State of New York) as if the Cor’porétion were a public body
as defined therein, | ‘
J FOURTEENTH:  The Corporation shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless
each Member, Director, each _ofﬁcer and, to the extent authorized by the Board of Dirécto‘rs, each
other person authorized to act for the Corporation or on its behalf| to the fullest extent pcrﬁnitted

under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.

FIFTEENTH: The Secretary of State of the State of New York is
designated as agent of the Corporation upon whom process against it may be served. The post
office address to which the Secretary of Stéte shall mail a copy of any process against the
Corporation served upon the Secretary of State as agent of the Corporation is c¢/o Chief of the
Division of Legal Counsel, New York ACity Law Department, 100 Church Street, New York,
New York 10007. '

- SIXTEENTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change
or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation in any manner provided by

statute,



IN WITNESS WHEREQF, this certificate has been signed this ,él day of

October, 2010 by the unders:gned

/Jé&dé’m Porac

USAN FORSYTH, INCORPORATOR
NEW YORK CITY LAW DEPARTMENT
100 CHURCH STREET

"NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10007
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N. ¥. 5. DEPARTMENT OF STATE
DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS AND STATE RECORDS ATBANY, NY 12231-0001

FILING RECEIPT

ENTITY NAME: NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

DOCUMENT TYPE: AMENDMENT (DOMESTIC NFP) COUNTY: NEWY
PROVISIONS

FILED:01/13/2014 DURATION:**%%%%%%% CASH#:140113000509 FILM #:140113000480

LAUREN MACKSOUD
110 WILLIAM STREET

NEW YORK, NY 10038

ADDRESS FOR PROCESS:

REGISTERED AGENT:

SERVICE COMPANY: CORPORATION SERVICE CCMPANY - 45 SERVICE CODE: 45
FEES 65.00 PAYMENTS 65.00
FILING 30.00 CASH 0.00
TAX . 0.00 CHECK 0.00
CERT 0.00 CHARGE 0.00
COPIES 10.00 DRAWDOWN 65.00
HANDLING 25.00 OPAL 0.00
REFUND 0.00

957588KXK DOS-1025 (04/2007)



STATE OF NEW YORK

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

I hereby certify that the annexed copy has been compared with the

original document in the custody of the Secretary of State and that the same
is a true copy of said original.

: ~ WITNESS my hand and official seal of the
ettt e, Department of State, at the City of Albany,
o on January 14, 2014. |
@ 3 | :
N G ey Getin
) & § | o

Anthony Giardina
Executive Deputy Secretary of State

Rev. 06/13
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Depeartment of State
Divizion of Corporations, State Records and Uniform Commercial Code
One Commerce Plaza, 99 Washington Avenue
Albany, NY 12231
www.dos.ny.gov

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE |

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

_ (Insert Name af Domestic Corporation)
Under Section 833 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law

FIRST: The name of the corporation is;

New York Gity Energy Efficiency Corporation

If the name of the corporation has been changed, the name under which it was formed is:

October 21, 2010

SECOND: The certificate of incorporation was filed by the Department of State on:

THIRD: The law the corporation was formed under is: Not-for-Profit Coporation Law

FOURTH: The corporation is a corporation as defined in Section 102(a)(5) of the Not-for-

Profit Corporation Law.

FIFTH: The corporation is a Type G corporation. If the corporate purposes are being
enlarged, limited or otherwise changed, the corporation shall be a Type corporation.

POS-1563-1a (Rev. 0612)

- 140113000480

Page 10of5



SIXTH: The amendment effected by this certificate of amendment is as follows:

(Set forth cach amendment in a separsie paragraph providing the subject matter and full text of each amended paragraph. For
example, an amendment changing the name of the corporation would read as follows: “Paragraph First ofthe Certificate of
Incorporation relating to ¢he corporate name is hereby amended to read in its entirety es follows:

First: The name of the corporation is ... (new name) ...")

Paragraph THIRTEENTH of the Certificate of Incorporation relating to
The reguirement to conduct meetings in accordance with the Open Meetings Law of the State of New York.

is hereby [check the appropriate box] [ ] added to read in its entirety as follows or [X]amended

to read in its entirety as follows:

THIRTEENTH: The Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors, which shall, prior to the adoption
of the Corporation's By-laws, be comprised of those persons named below each of whom shall serve as
Director until her or his suceessor has been appointed and qualified in accordance with the By-laws of the
Corporation. The names, officers and addresses of the initial Directors of the Corporation, each of whom is of
legal age to s0 act, are as follows:

Name Office _ Address

David Bragdon Director, Mayar's Office of Long-Term Planning and Sustainability 253 Broadway, NY

Stephen Goldsmith Deputy Mayoar for Operations City Hall, NY
“Anthony W. Crowell Counselor o the Mayor City Hali, NY

. The term "Director” as used herein shall include any alternate"director designated in accordance with the By-
laws of the €orparation. Each of the Directors shall serve for the term of office provided in the By-laws and
shall be removed from office and repiaced as provided in the By-laws.

DOS-15534+-a (Rev, 06/12) Page 20f §



SEVENTH: The Secretary of State is designated as agent of the carporation upon whom
process against it may be served. The address to which the Secretary of State shall forward copies
of process accepted on behalf of the corporation is:

New York Clty Energy Efficiency Corporation

110 William Strest

New York, NY 10036
Attn: Lauren Macksoud

EIGHTH: The certificate of amendment was authorized by: (Check the appropriate box)
The amendment was authorized by a vote of a majority of the members at a meeting.

[] The amendment was authorized by the unanimous written consent of the members entitled
to vote thereon.

[ The amendment was authonzed by a vote of a majority of the entire board of directors.
The corporation has no members.

VJ'CQ () { 35}/%7L

Bhinature) ~ (Signer's Title)

fred Lee

(Print or Type Signer's Name)

DOS-1563-1-a (Rev. 08/12) Page 4 of5
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF -
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
(Insert Name of Domestic Corporation) .

Under Section 803 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law

Filer's Name Lauren Macksoud

Address 110 William Strest

New York, NY 10033

City, State and Zip Code

Cust bp# 057582 Kxr

NOTE: The certificate must be submitted with a $30 filing fee. This form was prepared by the New York State
Department of Stale. [t does not contain all optional provisions under the law. Y'ou are not required to use this form.
You may draft your own form or use forms available at legal stationery stores, The Department of State recommends
that all documents be prepared under the guidance of an atforney. Please be sure fo review Section 804 and Secton
404 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law to determine if any consents or approvals are required to 72

aftached to this certificate of amendment.
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N. ¥. 5. DEPARTMENT OF STATE

DIVISION OF CORPORATIONS AND STATE RECORDS AT.BANY,

FILING RECEIPT

ENTITY NAME: NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

DOCUMENT TYPE: AMENDMENT
PURPOSES

(DOCMESTIC NFP) -
PROCESS PROVISIONS

CASH#:170106000581 FILM $#:170106000547

FILED:01/06/2017 DURATION: ****k*%k*

STROOCK & STROOCK & LAVAN LLP
180 MATIDEN LANHE

NEW YORK, NY 10038

ADDRESS FOR PROCESS:

THE CORPORATION

ATTENTION: GENERAL COUNSEL
NEW YORK, NY 10018

1359 BROADWAY,

REGISTERED AGENT:

SERVICE COMPANY: CORPORATION SERVICE COMPANY - 45

FEES £5.00 PAYMENTS
FILING 30.00 CASH
TAX 0.00 CHECK
CERT 0.00 CHARGE
COPIES 10.00 DRAWDOWN
HANDLING 25.00 OPAL
REFUND
450554AJC DOS-1025

NY 12231-0001

COUNTY: NEWY
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(04/2007)




- STATE OF NEW YORK

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

T hereby certify that the annexed copy has been compared with the
original document in the custody of the Secretary of State and that the same
is a true copy of said original. | |

WITNESS my hand and official seal of the
Department of State, at the City of Albany,
on January 9, 2017.

...00....

Brendan W. Fitzgerald
Executive Deputy Secretary of State

M T TYYT Y

Rev. 06/13
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
 OF
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF |
 NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

(Under Section 803 of the Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York)

It is hereby certified that:

FIRST: The name of the corporation is New York City Energy Eﬂicieney
Corporation. . '

SECOND: The certificate of incorporation of the corporation was filed by the -
Department of State on October 21, 2010 under the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law,

THIRD: The corporation is a corporation as defined in subparagraph (a)(5) of
Section 102 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law.

FOURTH: The certificate of incorporation is amended as follows:

(2) Article THIRD, regarding the purpose of the corporation, is revised to read as
follows:

THIRD: The purposes for which the Corporation is formed
and will be operated are the exclusively charitable purposes, within
the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the "Code™), of lessening the burdens of
government and protecting the public interest by implementing the
greenhouse gas reduction plans of The City of New York (the
"City") and undertaking similar efforts outside of the City,
including without limitation the provision of funding and financing
to property owners for the installation of renewable energy systems
and energy efficiency improvements, the development and
aggregation of demand for such funding and financing through
education, marketing, and outreach efforts, the coordination and
development of related workforee development activities, and the
promotion of innovative energy initiatives that deliver short- and
long-term economic and environmental benefits to residents of the
City and elsewhere (the "Sustainable Energy Program"),

(b) Article TWELFTH, regarding membershlp, is revised to read
as follows:

NY 75982635v]

170106000547

170106000 s\~




“TWELFTH. The Corporation shall not have any
Members.”

(c) Article FOURTEENTH, regarding indemnification, is revised
to read as follows: , :

“FOURTEENTH. The Corporation shall indemnify,
defend and hold harmiess each Director, each officer and, to the
extent authorized by the Board of Directors, each other person
authorized to act for the Corporation or on its behalf, to the fullest -
extent permitted under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law.”

FIFTH: The foregoing amendments of the certificate of incorporation of the
corporation were authorized by vote of a majority of the members voting at a meeting at which a
quorum was present, the affirmative votes cast in favor of the amendment being at least equal to
the quorum.

SIXTH: The Secretary of State is designated as agent of the corporation upon
whom process against it may be served. The post office address to which the Secretary shall
mail a copy of any process against the corporation served upon him of her is:

New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
1359 Broadway, 19th Floor

New York, New York 10018

Attention: General Counsel

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been %igned and the statements
made herein affirmed as true under the penalties of perjupy'this J# 'day of November, 2016,

Susan Leeds, President M _

NY 75982635v1




STATE OF NEW YORK
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERiC T, SCHNEDERMAN DIVISION OF SOCIAL JUSTICE
ATTORNEY GENERAL CrARMES BUREAU

The Attorney General hereby approves pursuant to NPCL 804(a)(ii)(A) the proposed
Certificate of Amendment of
New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
Said approval is conditioned on submission to the Department of State for filing within 60 days

hereafter. A copy of the filed certificate shall be provided to the Attorney General.

December 13, 2016
Date

Wy a (7 )//,/4 /3
Laura Wemer T~
Assistant Attorney General

126 Broadway, New York, N.Y. 102714 Phone (212) 418-8401 » Fax [212) 416-8392 " HoT For Serwce OF Parers
htip./iwww.0ag.siate. iy, us
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT

OF

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EF FiCIEN CY

CORPORATION

- (Under Section 803 of the Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York)

Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP
" 180 Maiden Lane
New York, NY 10038
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Adopted October 26, 2016

SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS
OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
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SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS
OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

ARTICLE 1
Membership

Pursuant to Section 601(a) of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the “N-PCL”) of the

State of New York, the Corporation does not have members.

ARTICLE 11

Board of Directors

Section 2.01 Powers and Duties. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) shall manage

and control the affairs and property of the Corporation. All corporate powers, except such as are
otherwise provided for in the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the laws of the
State of New York, shall be and hereby are vested in and shall be exercised by the Board. The
Board shall have full power to adopt rules and regulations governing all actions which it takes,
except as otherwise provided by the laws of the State of New York, and shall have full authority
with respect to the distribution and payment of monies received by the Corporation from time to
time; provided, however, that the fundamental and basic purposes and powers of the Corporation,
and the limitations thereon, as expressed in the Certificate of Incorporation, as it may be

amended from time to time, shall not thereby be amended or changed.

NY 75173817v4



Section 2.02 Number, Election, Term of Office, Removal and Resignation.

A. Number. The number of Directors shall be fixed by action of a resolution of
a majority of the entire Board, but shall be no fewer than five nor more than 20 (each a
“Director” and collectively the “Directors”), such number including the Ex-Officio Directors.
No decrease in the number of Directors shall serve to diminish the term of any Director then in
office. As used in these By-Laws, “entire Board” means the total number of Directors fixed

by the Board, and that the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies.

B. Appointment; Classes; Term. Each of (i) the Director of the Mayor's Office

Sustainability, or such other person who is the successor thereof, and (ii) an officeholder or
employee of the City designated by the Mayor of the City of New York, shall each be an ex-

officio Director of the Corporation (the “Ex-Officio Directors”). The other Directors (the

“Elected Directors”) shall be divided into three classes, the members of each class to be

elected to serve for terms of three years or such lesser period as may be specified at the time of
election so as to substantially equalize such three classes. The duration of terms shall be so
scheduled that the number of seats to be filled shall, so far as practicable, be equal in each
succeeding year but the fact that classes are not equal in size shall in no way affect the validity
of the constitution of the Board of Directors or of a Director’s election. Elected Directors shall
be elected at the annual meeting of the Board by plurality vote of the Elected Directors and
may succeed themselves in office. Except in the event of a resignation, any person serving as
an Ex-Officio Director shall continue as a Directors for so long as he or she shall remain in the

position with the City applicable to such Ex-Officio Director.



The term of office of each Elected Director shall commence upon election and
terminate at the close of the annual meeting of the Board in the year that such Director’s term
expires or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal. Vacancies occurring on the
Board of Directors for any reason, including newly-created Directorships, may be filled by the
vote of a majority of the Directors then in office, whether or not a quorum. A Director elected to
fill a vacancy (whether caused by resignation, death, or removal or the creation of new
Directorships) shall be elected to hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board at which
the election of Directors is in the regular order of business at which time the Board shall vote to

place such Director in a class. All Directors are eligible for unlimited reelection.

C. Removal. Any Elected Director may be removed, with cause, by an
affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors if notice of the proposed removal

action was included in the written notice of such meeting.

D. Resignation. Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice
of such resignation to the Chairperson of the Corporation. Unless otherwise specified in the
notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt by the Chairperson and acceptance of the
resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. If an Ex-Officio Director resigns, the
directorship shall remain empty until a new person is named by the Mayor of the City of New
York (or such other officeholder who has the right to appoint persons to such office) to the

position giving rise to the ex-officio directorship.

Section 2.03 Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the Board shall be held

at such times and places as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.. Written

notice of the date, time and place of the annual meeting shall be given by first class or overnight
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mail, overnight delivery service, personal delivery or email at least ten days in advance of the
annual meeting date. The President and Treasurer shall present at each annual meeting of the
Board their reports, which shall set forth the statements and be verified or certified in the manner

prescribed by Sections 513 and 519 of the N-PCL, including the following:

@ The assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, of the Corporation as of the end
of a twelve month fiscal period terminating not more than six months prior to the
meeting.

(b) The principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds, during such
fiscal period.

(©) The revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to
particular purposes, during such fiscal period.

(d) The expenses or disbursements of the Corporation, for both general and restricted
purposes, during said fiscal period.

(e) Information about assets received for specific purposes for which an annual report
IS required pursuant to §513 of the N-PCL.

Such reports shall be filed with the records of the Corporation and either a copy or an abstract

thereof entered in the minutes of the proceedings of such annual meeting of the Board.

Section 2.04 Regular Meetings. Regular meetings shall be held at such intervals

and at such times and places as the Board may determine. Written notice stating the date, time
and place of the meeting shall be given in the same manner as notices for the annual meetings of

the Board at least ten days in advance of the regular meeting date.

Section 2.05 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board may be called for

any date, time and place by the Chairperson, or by the Secretary upon written demand of a
majority of the Directors then in office. Written notice stating the date, time, place, and the
purpose or purposes for which the special meeting is called shall be given in the same manner as

notices for annual meetings of the Board to all Directors at least ten days prior to the scheduled
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date of the special meeting; provided, however, if it is determined by the Chairperson that there
is an emergency which requires immediate board action, a meeting may be called on 24 hour
notice given by personal delivery or email. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, any

business may be transacted at any duly called Board meeting.

Section 2.06 Waiver of Notice. Notice of any meeting need not be given to any
Director who submits a signed waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting. Attendance
of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of the meeting except where a
Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business

because the meeting is not lawfully called.

Section 2.07 Quorum and Alternate Directors. At all meetings of the Board,

one-third of the entire Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided,
however, that Elected Directors constitute a majority of the Directors in attendance. Each Ex-
Officio Director may from time to time appoint an alternate Ex-Officio Director to attend
meetings in lieu of the Ex-Officio Director by written notice to the Secretary of the Corporation
identifying such alternate Director. An alternate Director so designated shall have the right to
attend meetings of the Board and to exercise therein all the rights, powers and privileges of the
absent Director. When so exercising such rights, powers and privileges of the absent Director,
such alternate Director shall be subject in all respects to the provisions of the N-PCL governing

directors.

Section 2.08 Action of the Board; Attendance by Telecommunications. The

action of a majority of the Directors present at the time of a vote, if a quorum is present at such

time, shall be the act of the Board, except as otherwise provided by these By-Laws, the
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Certificate of Incorporation, any Board-approved policy or any applicable statute, including,
without limitation, Sections 509 (which generally requires that certain real estate related actions
be approved by two-thirds of the entire Board), 712 (which requires that Board standing
committees and their members be designated by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire
Board), and 715 (which requires that the salaries of officers be approved by a majority of the
entire Board if not established in or pursuant to the by-laws) of the N-PCL. Any Director may
participate in a meeting of the Board or committee by means of a conference telephone, video
conference or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the
meeting to hear all other persons participating in the meeting at the same time. Each Director

shall have one vote. Directors may not vote by proxy.

Section 2.09 Action by Written Consent of Directors. Any action required or

permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be
taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or the committee consent in
writing (including electronic mail or facsimile telecommunication) to the adoption of a resolution
authorizing such action. If provided in writing, the consent must be executed by the Director or
the committee member, as applicable, by signing such consent or causing his or her signature to
be affixed to such consent by any reasonable means including, but not limited to, facsimile
signature. If provided via electronic mail, the transmission of such consent must set forth, or be
submitted with, information from which it can reasonably be determined that the transmission
was authorized by the Director or the committee member, as applicable. Such resolution and
written consents thereto shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors

or the committee.



Section 2.10. Adjournment. At any meeting of the Board, whether or not a
quorum is present, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to another time
and place; provided, however, that such Directors notify any absent Director of the new meeting
time and location. At any such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business

may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.

Section 2.11. Conduct of the Meeting. At all meetings of the Board, the

Chairperson of the Corporation shall preside, or in the Chairperson’s absence, a Vice
Chairperson designated by the Chairperson shall preside. The Secretary of the Corporation shall
act as secretary at all meetings of the Board. In the absence of the Secretary, the presiding

officer shall appoint any individual present to act as secretary of the meeting.

Section 2.12. Compensation. Directors shall serve without salary for their
services as such. The Board of Directors may authorize reimbursement of expenses incurred by
Directors in the performance of their duties. Nothing in these By-Laws shall be construed to
preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving

compensation for services performed in such capacity.

Section 2.13. Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions. The

Corporation shall adopt a conflict of interest policy in conformity with the requirements of the
N-PCL. All related party transactions (as defined in the N-PCL) shall be approved only as set
forth in the Corporation’s conflict of interest policy. Any related party transaction in violation of

the related party transactions provisions of such policy shall be deemed void or voidable.



Section 2.14. Audits.

(a) Procedure. If the Corporation is required to file audited financial
statements under the New York State Executive Law with the Charities Bureau of the
Department of Law, either an Audit Committee composed of at least three independent
Directors, another Board committee composed of at least three independent Directors or the
Board of Directors shall undertake the actions described in this section. Only independent
Directors may participate in any Board or committee deliberations or voting relating to audits.
Directors who are not independent may serve on such committee only in an adjunct capacity and
any such persons may not participate in any discussion, deliberation or vote on any matter and
may not be present when the work performed or overseen by such person is being reviewed or

discussed.

(b) Definitions. An “independent Director” is an individual who meets

all of the following criteria:

» has not been an employee of, or does not have a relative that was a key employee of,

the Corporation or an affiliate of the Corporation in the past three years;

 has not received, or does not have a relative that has received, $10,000 or more in
direct compensation from the Corporation or an affiliate in the last three years (other

than expense reimbursement or reasonable compensation as a Director);

« isnot a current employee of or does not have a substantial financial interest in an
entity that made or received payments from the Corporation or an affiliate for
property or services in any one of the last three fiscal years of more than $25,000 or
2% of the Corporation’s gross revenue (whichever is less); and
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« does not have a relative who is a current officer of, or has a substantial interest in, an
entity making or receiving payments of a similar amount to the Corporation in any of

the past three years.

Payments in this context do not include charitable contributions. For purposes of these By-Laws,
“relative” means a person’s (a) spouse, ancestor, whole and half sibling, natural and adopted
child, grandchild, great-grandchild and spouse of such sibling and descendant and (b) such
person’s domestic partner as defined in the Public Health Law and “key employee” means any
person who is in a position to exercise substantial influence over the affairs of the Corporation,
as referenced in 26 U.S.C. § 4958(f)(1)(A) and further specified in 26 CFR § 53.4958-3(c), (d)

and (e), or succeeding provisions.

(c) Audit Function. The Audit Committee or, if there is no Audit Committee, the

other committee or the independent Directors shall (i) oversee the accounting and financial
reporting processes of the Corporation; (ii) oversee any independent financial audit or review,
including annually retain or renew the retention of an independent auditor to conduct the audit or
review, review the results of the audit or review and any related management letter (as well as
management’s responses thereto) with the independent auditor at the conclusion of the audit or
review and, if the Corporation had annual revenue in excess of $1,000,000 in the prior fiscal year
(or expects to have such revenue in the current fiscal year), (A) review with such independent
auditor the proposed scope and planning of the audit prior to the audit’s commencement, (B)
upon completion of the audit, review and discuss with the independent auditor any material risks
and weaknesses in internal controls identified by the auditor, any restrictions on the scope of the
auditor’s activities or access to requested information, any significant disagreements between the

auditor and management, and the adequacy of the organization’s accounting and financial
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reporting processes, (C) annually consider the performance and independence of the auditor and
(D) report back to the Board with respect to the committee’s audit oversight duties, and (iii)
oversee the adoption, implementation of, and compliance with, any conflict of interest policy or
whistleblower policy adopted by the Corporation (unless this function is already being performed
by another Board committee consisting solely of independent Directors) and otherwise monitor
compliance with any other corporate codes of conduct or ethics and establish policies and
practices to prevent financial fraud including monitoring the Corporation’s internal control over
financial reporting and request special investigations if deemed appropriate. The Audit
Committee may investigate any matter brought to its attention within the scope of its duties, with
the power to retain outside counsel for this purpose if, in its judgment, that is appropriate. The
Audit Committee will promptly report any such actions, and the results of any such investigation,

to (or as otherwise directed by) the Board of Directors or any Executive Committee.

ARTICLE III

Committees

Section 3.01 Board Committees. There shall be an Executive Committee, Governance

and Human Resource Committee, and Audit and Finance Committee, as further described in
Sections 3.02, 3.03, and 3.04 respectively of this Article 111, and the Board, by resolution adopted
by a majority of the entire Board, may designate other Board committees, each of which shall
consist of at least three Directors. Each member of the Executive Committee, Governance and
Human Resource Committee, and Audit and Finance Committee, and any other Board
committees shall be designated by a majority of the entire Board, and shall serve at the pleasure
of the Board, which shall also have full discretion in determining the number of members of such

committees. Board committees shall have the powers specifically provided in these By-Laws or
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the resolutions creating them; provided, however, that no such committee of the Board shall have
authority as to (i) filling vacancies in the Board or any committees, (ii) fixing compensation of
the Directors for serving on the Board or on any committee, (iii) amending or repealing these
By-Laws or adopting new By-Laws, (iv) amending or repealing any Board resolution which by
its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable, or (v) conducting any other activities expressly

prohibited by law.

Section 3.02 Executive Committee.

A. Composition. The Executive Committee shall consist of the Chairperson,
any Vice Chairperson(s), (and, if members of the Board, any President, any Vice Presidents,
the Secretary, and the Treasurer), chairs of all Board Committees from time to time, and such
other Directors of the Corporation as the Board may determine, each of whom shall be

designated by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board.

B. Powers and Authority. Except as otherwise provided by law and in these

By-Laws, the Executive Committee shall have and may exercise all of the powers and
authority of the Board, and shall act in its stead between meetings of the Board of Directors.
The Executive Committee shall notify the entire Board of any actions it takes or decisions it
makes, other than those in the ordinary course of operations, within a reasonable time

thereafter but in any event by the time of the next meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 3.03 Governance and Human Resource Committee.

A. Composition. The Governance and Human Resource Committee shall

consist of the Chairperson and at least two other Directors each of whom shall be designated
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by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board. At least three members of the
Governance and Human Resource Committee shall be Independent and Independent members
shall, at all times, constitute a majority of such Committee. For purposes of these By-Laws a
Director shall be “Independent” if such Director meets the standards for independent directors

set forth in Section 2.14.

B. Powers and Authority. The Governance and Human Resource Committee

shall have the power and authority to review and, as appropriate, recommend for revision, the
Corporation’s governance and personnel policies and practices and oversee, at a policy level,
all governance and employee-related matters; approve the compensation strategy of the
Corporation, consistent with the Corporation’s mission and values; review management
proposals regarding compensation and benefits programs to ensure such programs support the
Corporation’s established strategy; review comparable compensation and benefits data of
similar organizations, review and evaluate the performance of executives of the Corporation
and set guidelines for and approve, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire
committee, compensation for all Officers and all other employees who are “disqualified
persons” within the meaning of Section 4958 of the Internal Revenue Code; approve strategies
and plans for merit pay/incentives/severance pay and any unusual compensation arrangements

that may arise; and promptly document any determinations.

Section 3.04 Audit and Finance Committee.

A. Designation and Composition. The Audit and Finance Committee shall

consist of at least three Directors, each of whom shall be designated by resolution adopted by a

majority of the entire Board. At least three members of the Audit and Finance Committee shall
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be Independent, and Independent members shall, at all times, constitute a majority of such

Committee.

B. Powers and Authority. The Audit and Finance Committee shall have the

power and authority to review periodically the financial condition of the Corporation, including
a review of budgets, financial statements, reports of accounts and investments of the
Corporation’s funds. The Audit and Finance Committee shall monitor the Corporation’s

financial planning, systems of accounting controls, and the disbursement of funds.

If there are any members of the Audit and Finance Committee who are not
Independent, then the Board shall create an Audit Subcommittee. The Audit Subcommittee shall
composed of all of the Independent members of the Audit and Finance Committee and shall

perform the duties set forth in Section 2.14.

The Audit and Finance Committee shall be responsible for the preservation
and enhancement of assets; shall cause to be prepared an annual budget for the Corporation,
subject to Board approval; shall supervise investments (which do not include loans, credit
enhancements and any financing arrangements made for program related purposes) and advise
on matters of financial policy, fund raising and expenditures; and shall annually review the
Corporation’s directors’ and officers’ indemnification insurance and make certain it is in force.
The Committee, either as a full committee or through a subcommittee on investments, shall
cause a policy with respect to its institutional funds (which do not include loans, credit
enhancements and any financing arrangements made for program related purposes) to be adopted
by the Board of Directors as required by the N-PCL and periodically review and perform its

responsibilities pursuant to such policy as appropriate.
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C. Annual Audit Report. The chairperson of the Audit Subcommittee shall

report to the Board on the results of the annual audit of the Corporation’s financial statements

(the “Annual Audit Report”), which the Board shall consider for approval. The Treasurer

and President will also meet with and provide financial updates to the Audit and Finance

Committee of the Board on a regular basis throughout each fiscal year.

Section 3.05 Quorum and Procedure. At least 50% of all of the voting members of any

Board committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting thereof; provided, however, that at
least two of such voting members are in attendance and that Elected Directors constitute a
majority of the Directors in attendance. The action of a majority of the committee members
present at a meeting of the committee at which a quorum exists shall be the act of the committee,
except as otherwise provided by these By-Laws, the Certificate of Incorporation or any
applicable statute. Other procedures of such committees shall be governed by rules fixed by the
Board or, if not set by the Board, as fixed by the committee. Each member of a Board committee
shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may appoint
alternate members of any standing committee to act as substitutes for any absent member at
meetings of such committee. Each Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings and keep
records or prepare reports of its decisions and actions, and each committee chair shall submit the
same to the Board of Directors prior to the next Board meeting, if such Board meeting is to be
held more than two weeks after the committee meeting. If the next Board meeting is to be held
less than two weeks after the committee meeting, the committee chair shall either submit the
minutes, records, or reports relating to the committee meeting to the Board of Directors or shall

cause a report concerning the meeting to be verbally presented at the next Board meeting.
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Section 3.06 Non-Director Committee Members. In addition to the Directors on any

committee, the Board, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Board, may designate as a non-
voting adjunct, on any committee except the Executive Committee, any person who is not a
Director of the Corporation but who has relevant expertise on such committee’s power and
authority. Any such designation shall be for a one year term, subject to renewal by the Board at
its annual meeting. Such adjuncts shall not count for determining whether a quorum is present at

any meeting and shall not vote on any action of the Committee.

Section 3.07 Committees of the Corporation. Committees of the Corporation, if any,

may be established by the Board of Directors and the members thereof (who do not need to be
Directors) shall be elected in the same manner as officers of the Corporation or appointed by the
Chairperson or as otherwise set forth at the time of formation of such committees. Such
committees shall act in an advisory capacity or shall function to conduct events or activities of
the Corporation; they shall have no authority to act on behalf of the Board of Directors or set

corporate policy.

ARTICLE 1V

Officers

Section 4.01 Officers. The officers of the Corporation will consist of a Chairperson, a
President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and such other officers as may be elected by the Board from
time to time (each, an “Officer” and, collectively, the “Officers”). The same person may not
simultaneously hold the offices of both President and Secretary or both the President and

Treasurer. Except as set forth below, each Officer will be elected annually by the Board. Each
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Officer shall serve at the pleasure of the Board or until his or her prior death, resignation or

removal. Any vacancy occurring in any office may be filled at any ensuing meeting of the Board.

Section 4.02 Chairperson. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall preside at
all meetings of the Board of Directors. If no President is elected, or if elected, in the President’s
absence or inability to act, the Chairperson shall have the same powers and duties of the
President of the Corporation. The Chairperson must be a member of the Board of Directors. An
employee of the Corporation shall not be eligible to serve as Board Chairperson (or in any office

with similar responsibilities).

Section 4.03 President. The President will be the chief executive officer of the
Corporation and will have general charge and supervision of the business and affairs of the
Corporation, subject to the control and direction of the Board. The President will keep the Board
fully informed concerning the affairs of the Corporation, and will freely consult with members of
the Board concerning the activities thereof. The President will perform such other duties as are

incident to his or her office or as are assigned to him or her by the Board or the Chairperson.

Section 4.04 Treasurer. The Treasurer will be charged with the care and custody of all
the moneys and securities of the Corporation. He or she will cause to be deposited moneys
received by him or her for the Corporation as provided in Section 5.01 hereof. He or she will
cause to be entered in books of the Corporation to be kept for that purpose, full and accurate
accounts of all moneys received by him or her and paid by him or her on account of the
Corporation. He or she will render a statement of the condition of the finances of the
Corporation at any annual meeting of the Board as provided by Section 519(c) of the N-PCL or

at such other time as the Board shall require. He or she will make an annual report to the Board
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concerning assets held for a specific purpose, the use made of such assets and the income thereof
as provided in Section 513(b) of the N-PCL. He or she will make and sign such reports,
statements and instruments as may be required of him or her by law or the Board, and will
perform such other duties as are incident to his or her office or as are properly required of him or

her by the Board or the President.

Section 4.05 Secretary. The Secretary will act as Secretary of each meeting of the
Board. In the absence of the Secretary, the presiding Officer of the meeting will appoint a

secretary of the meeting. In addition, the Secretary will (or cause someone else to):

A. Record and keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board and Executive
Committee and shall record all actions taken by the Board and Executive Committee in

accordance with Article 3 hereof, in each case, in books to be kept for that purpose;

B. Ensure that all notices and reports are duly given or filed pursuant to these By-

Laws or as required by law;

C. Be custodian of the records (other than financial) and have charge of the seal
of the Corporation and ensure that it is used upon all papers or documents whose execution on
behalf of the Corporation under its seal is required by law or required pursuant to these By-Laws;

and

D. In general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other

duties as the Chairperson or the Board may from time to time assign to the Secretary.

Section 4.06 Removal. Any Officer may be removed, either with or without cause, at

any meeting of Directors, notice of which will have referred to the proposed action.
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Section 4.07 Execution of Contracts, Deeds and Agreements. All authorized contracts,

deeds and agreements shall be executed in the name of the Corporation by the President,
Treasurer, Secretary or another Officer of the Corporation designated by the President or the

Board.

Section 4.08 Execution of Checks, Notes, Drafts and Other Neqgotiable Instruments.

All authorized checks, notes, drafts and other negotiable instruments shall be executed in the
name of the Corporation by the President, Treasurer, Secretary or another Officer of the
Corporation designated by the President or the Board and must be co-signed by one of the
President, Treasurer, Secretary or another authorized individual designated by the President or
the Board if the amount is in excess of any limit as shall be established by the Board of

Directors. No one person may both execute and co-sign the same instrument.

Section 4.09 Compensation. The Corporation may pay its Officers, agents and
employees compensation commensurate with their services, and reimbursement for expenses
incurred in the performance of their duties. No loans shall be made by the Corporation to any of
its Directors or Officers or to any entity in which one or more of its Directors or Officers is also a
director or officer or holds a substantial financial interest, except for a loan to another charitable

corporation.

ARTICLE V

Finances and Records

Section 5.01 Finances. The funds of the Corporation will be deposited in its name with
such bank or banks, trust company or trust companies as the Board may from time to time

designate. Except as provided in Section 4.08 hereof, no Officer, alone or with others, will have
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the power to make any checks, notes, drafts or other negotiable instruments in the name of the

Corporation or to bind the Corporation thereby.

Section 5.02 Investments. The funds of the Corporation may be retained in whole or in
part in cash, or may be invested and reinvested from time to time in such property, real, personal

or otherwise, or stocks, bonds or other securities, as the Board may deem desirable.

Section 5.03 Keeping and Inspection of Records. There will be kept, at the

principal office of the Corporation, a complete set of books and records of the Corporation.

They will include, but not be limited to, the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-Laws, minutes
of all meetings of, and all unanimous written consents by, the members and the Board of
Directors, any Executive Committee and any Audit Committee (and any other committee or
subcommittee exercising the authority of an audit committee) and any other committees of the
Board taking action in lieu of action by the Board, and such other books, records and papers of
the Corporation as the Board will require. These records will be open to inspection during
business hours by any Director within ten business days after receipt by the President of a written

request for such inspection.

ARTICLE VI

Indemnification

Section 6.01 Indemnification of Directors and Officers. To the maximum extent

permitted by law, the Corporation will indemnify, and the Corporation will advance expenses of,
each Director as described in Article Il hereof and each Officer as described in Article IV hereof,
whether or not then in office, each of its employees and agents designated for indemnification by

the Board within its discretion, and each person serving at the request of the Corporation as a
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director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or

other enterprise (hereinafter all referred to more generally as “directors and officers”) who was

or is a party or threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action,
suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal, administrative or investigative, whether by or in the
right of the Corporation or not, in a manner and to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted
by the N-PCL, and arising out of (a) any transaction of the Corporation or (b) any act or failure
to act by such Director, Officer or employee who engaged in the discharge of his or her duties on
behalf of the Corporation. The right to be indemnified or to the advancement or reimbursement
of expenses pursuant to these By-Laws is a contract right pursuant to which the person entitled
thereto may bring suit as if the provisions hereof or of any such resolution were set forth in a
separate written contract between the Corporation and such person, and shall continue to exist
after any rescission or restrictive modification hereof or of any such resolution with respect to

events occurring prior thereto.

Section 6.02 Non-Exclusive. Every reference in this Article V1 to directors and officers

of the Corporation or other entities shall include every director and officer thereof or former
director and officer thereof. The rights of indemnification provided herein shall be in addition to
any and all rights to which any director or officer otherwise might be entitled, and the provisions

hereof shall neither impair or adversely affect such rights.

ARTICLE VII

Miscellaneous

Section 7.01 Form of Corporate Seal. The seal of the Corporation will be circular in

form with the words “New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation” in the outer circle and the
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words “Corporate Seal 2010 New York” in the inner circle. The seal on any corporate obligation

for the payment of money may be facsimile, engraved or printed.

Section 7.02  Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation will end on June 30th,

unless otherwise provided by the Board.

Section 7.03 Amendment of By-Laws. Except as otherwise required by Section 709 of

the N-PCL (regarding adding or deleting a provision which sets the proportion of Directors that
shall constitute a quorum or the proportion of votes of Directors which shall be necessary for the
transaction of business or of a specified item of business at a level greater than that set by the N-
PCL, which requires approval by a vote of two-thirds of the entire Board), or other provisions of
applicable law, these By-Laws may be amended, repealed or replaced at any meeting of the
Board by a majority vote of the entire Board; provided, however, that any change to clause (b)(i)
or clause (b)(ii) of Section 1.01 shall also require the approval of the Director noted in such

clause.

Section 7.04 Notice of Amendments. Notice of the proposed amendment or

amendments shall be included in the notices of meeting given to the Board. No action shall be
taken to alter or amend the By-Laws that would adversely affect the qualification of the
Corporation as an organization (i) exempt from Federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as an organization described in
Code Section 501(c)(3), and (ii) contributions to which are deductible under Code Section

170(c)(2).
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ARTICLE VIII

Limitations

Section 8.01 Exempt Activities. Notwithstanding any other provision of these By-

Laws, no Director, Officer, committee member, employee or representative of the Corporation
shall take any action or carry on any activity by or on behalf of the Corporation not permitted to
be taken or carried on by an organization (i) exempt from Federal income taxation under Code
Section 501(a), as an organization described in Code Section 501(c)(3), and (ii) contributions to

which are deductible under Code Section 170(c)(2).

Section 8.02 Prohibition Against Sharing in Corporate Earnings. No Director, Officer

or employee of, or other person connected with, the Corporation, or any other private individual,
shall receive at any time any of the net earnings or pecuniary profit from the operations of the
Corporation; provided however that this shall not prevent either the payment to any such person
of reasonable compensation for services rendered to or for the benefit of the Corporation or the
reimbursement of expenses incurred by any such person on behalf of the Corporation, in
connection with effecting any of the purposes of the Corporation; and no such person or persons
shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the corporate assets upon the dissolution of
the Corporation. All such persons shall be deemed to have expressly consented and agreed that
upon such dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, whether voluntary or
involuntary, the assets of the Corporation, after all debts have been satisfied, then remaining in
the hands of the Board, shall be distributed, transferred, conveyed, delivered and paid over, in
such amounts as the Board may determine, or as may be determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction upon the application of the Board, exclusively to charitable, religious, scientific,

literary or educational organizations (i) which then qualify for exemption from Federal income
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taxation under the provisions of Code Section 501(c)(3) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder
(as they now exist or as they hereafter may be amended), and (ii) contributions to which are
deductible under Code Section 170(c)(2) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (as they now

exist or as they hereafter may be amended).

ARTICLE IX

Conflicts of Interest

All Directors and Officers shall comply with the Corporation’s Conflicts of Interest

Policy.
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF DIRECTORS OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

October 26, 2016

NEW YORK, NY

At the annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency
Corporation (the “Corporation”) held at 60 Columbus Circle, New York, NY, in the afternoon of
October 26, 2016, the following Directors and Officers were present:

o Jeff Brodsky, a Director of the Corporation and Vice Chairman — Related Companies

¢ Ashok Gupta, a Director of the Corporation and Senior Energy Economist — Natural
Resources Defense Council (participated by telephone)

e (Greg Hale, a Director of the Corporation and Senior Advisor to the Chairman of Energy
and Finance — State of New York

¢ Marc Khouzami, a Director of the Corporation and a Director at Deutsche Bank

¢ Sadie McKeown, a Director of the Corporation and Chief Operating Officer — The
Community Preservation Corporation

e Dan Zarrilli, £x-Officio Director of the Corporation and Senior Director of Climate
Policy and Programs for the City of New York

e Renwick Paige, a Director of the Corporation and President — Energy Infrastructure
Partners

e Curtis Probst, a Director of the Corporation and Managing Director — Rocky Mountain
Institute

e Bruce Schlein, a Director of the Corporation and a Director in Citi’s Community
Reinvestment Act Business Strategy & Execution group

o Elizabeth Zeldin, a Member of the Corporation and a Senior Program Director at
Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

e Susan Leeds, President of the Corporation
o Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary of the Corporation
e Jay Merves, Treasurer of the Corporation

Also in attendance by invitation were John Lee of the Mayor's Office of Sustainability
Naeemah Lajoie, Director of Operations for the Corporation and Mike Kerstetter, an Associate
Director of Legal for the Corporation. (Director David Fenton was absent from the meeting.) It
was noted that a quorum existed and the meeting of the Board of Directors was called to order
immediately following the end of the annual meeting of the Members.

1. Approval of Prior Meeting's Minutes.

Reference was made to the minutes of the prior Board meeting included in the Meeting
Package that was provided to the Directors prior to the meeting (the “Meeting Package”). It was




asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the proposed minutes and none were
raised.

A motion to approve the minutes was made, seconded and approved by all of the
Directors present.

2. Election of corporate officers.

Reference was made to the resolution in the Meeting Package concerning the annual
election of the Officers of the Corporation. A short presentation was made concerning the
resolution. It was asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the resolution and
none were raised.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the annual election of Officers.
The motion was seconded and approved by all of the Directors present. A copy of such
resolutions, as so approved, are attached hereto at Exhibit A.

3. 2016 audited financial statements.

Reference was made to the Corporation’s annual audit, the audited financial statements
and auditor's report provided to the Directors prior to the meeting, and to the related resolution
included with the Meeting Package. In his capacity as Chairperson of the Board's Audit and
Finance Committee, Mr. Paige reported to the Directors on the results of the most recent meeting
of the committee, the findings of the auditors and the recommendation of such committee that
the Board of Directors approve the audited financial statements. Mr. Merves made a
presentation to the Directors concerning the audit and financial statements. A discussion
followed concerning the audit and the financial statements generally and several questions were
asked and answered.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the audit and financial
statements. The motion was seconded and approved by all of the Directors present. A copy of
such resolutions, as so approved, are attached hereto at Exhibit B.

4. Annual conflict of interest disclosure forms.

Reference was made to the annual conflict of interest disclosure form that each Director
is required to submit. The Directors present at the meeting each completed and signed their
respective "Additional Disclosure Form" and submitted the same to the Secretary of the Meeting.

5. Dissolution of strategic planning committee.

Reference was made to the resolution in the Meeting Package concerning the dissolution
of the Board's Strategic Planning Committee. A short presentation was made concerning the
resolution. It was asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the resolution and
none were raised.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the dissolution of the
committee. The motion was seconded and approved by all of the Directors present. A copy of
such resolutions, as so approved, are attached hereto at Exhibit C.
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6. Election of 3rd member to governance and HR committee.

Reference was made to the resolution in the Meeting Package concerning the election of
a third Director to serve as a member of the Board's Governance and Human Resource
Committee. A short presentation was made concerning the resolution. It was asked if any
Directors had any comments or questions on the resolution and none were raised.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the election of Bruce Schlein
as the third member of the committee. The motion was seconded and approved by all of the
Directors present. A copy of such resolutions, as so approved, are attached hereto at Exhibit D.

7. Policies and Procedures Manual.

Reference was made to the resolution in the Meeting Package concerning the updated
Policies and Procedures Manual, and to the supplemental materials and copy of the manual itself
as provided to the Directors prior to the meeting. A short presentation was made concerning the
resolution. It was asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the resolution, the
manual itself or any of the updates made to the manual as summarized in the supplemental
materials. Several questions were asked and answered and a discussion was had on the matter.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the manual. The motion was
seconded and approved by all of the Directors present. A copy of such resolutions, as so
approved, are attached hereto at Exhibit E.

8. Contractor based marketing strategy.

Reference was made to the Corporation's three-year strategic plan and goals set forth
therein to increase the size of the Corporation's portfolio of transactions by 2018. The President
and Treasurer noted that based on an analysis of the Corporation's current portfolio of financing
transactions, more than half of the transactions (as measured by both the number of transactions
closed and the total capital committed by the Corporation) had been sourced by or originated
from contractors of different types, as opposed to building owners, property managers or other
lenders.

A detailed and in-depth presentation was then made on the contractor based marketing
initiative in the plan. In particular, it was noted that the first contactor "sub-silo" to be
investigated and analyzed was the combined heat and power ("CHP") sector. The results of that
investigation and analysis were presented to the Board and the matter was discussed at length
and numerous questions were asked and answered.

It was informally agreed by the Directors and Officers present that one of the next sub-
silos to be investigated and analyzed by the Corporation should be the rooftop solar-electric
sector or another comparable renewable energy technology. It was also noted that the CHP
investigation and analysis indicated that the Corporation would likely be more successful at
increasing the size of its portfolio if the Corporation had the authority to finance projects outside
of New York City.



0. Geographic expansion.

Reference was made to the subject of geographic expansion for the Corporation.
Reference was also made to the meeting of the Members of the Corporation which occurred
immediately prior to the Directors meeting. It was noted that at their meeting, the Members had
approved a resolution pursuant to which the geographic limitations imposed on the Corporation
by the Certificate of Incorporation were to be removed, giving the Corporation the power and
authority to provide financing for projects outside the boundaries of the City of New York. It
was also noted that the resolution of the Members expressly made such power and authority
subject to the applicable terms and conditions set forth in one or more resolutions as may be duly
approved by the Corporation's Board of Directors from time to time.

A draft version of such a Board resolution was circulated for discussion purposes.
Pursuant to the draft resolution, the Board would impose certain terms and conditions on the
Corporation's power and authority to finance projects outside of New York City. The Directors
discussed the matter at length and numerous questions were asked and answered. It was
informally agreed by the Directors and Officers present that over the next one or two weeks, the
Corporation would circulate to the Directors a revised version of the Board resolution for their
consideration.

10. Fundraising and development.

Reference was made to the Corporation's fundraising and development initiative and a
brief presentation was made on the current status of such initiative. Each Director was handed a
document listing the organizations the Corporation is currently targeting for fundraising and
development purposes. A short discussion was had on the subject.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and approved by all of the Directors present, the
meeting was adjourned.

Respectfully submitted,

gl S WY

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting



Exhibit A
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

Annual Election of Corporate Officers

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Fifth Amended and Restated By-Laws the officers of the
Corporation consist of a Chairperson, a President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and such other
officers as may be elected by the Board from time to time; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to such By-Laws, each officer of the Corporation is to be elected
annually by the Board.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Board hereby elects Jeff Brodsky to
serve as Chairperson, Susan Leeds to serve as President, Fred Lee to serve as Vice-President and
Secretary, and Jay Merves to serve as Treasurer.



Exhibit B
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

2016 Audited Financials

WHEREAS, the Audit and Finance Committee met with the independent auditors of the
Corporation and reviewed the independent auditors’ report on the audited financial statements of
the Corporation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (the “2016 Audited Financials™);

WHEREAS, the Audit and Finance Committee believes the 2016 Audited Financials are
reasonable and appropriate and has recommended that the Board accept the independent
auditors’ report and authorize the release of such financial statements; and

WHEREAS, a copy of the 2016 Audited Financials was provided to each Director as a
supplement to and concurrently with the meeting package for the annual meetings (held October
26, 2016) of the Members and Directors (the 2016 Audited Financials, as so provided, being
incorporated herein by reference).

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Board hereby accepts the 2016
Audited Financials and authorizes the release of such audited financial statements; provided, that
2016 Audited Financials may be amended to reflect non-material changes acceptable to the CEO
of the Corporation.



Exhibit C
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

Dissolution of Strategic Planning Committee

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 3.01 of the Corporation's by-laws, the Board at its June
18, 2015 meeting established and created the Strategic Planning Committee as a committee of
the Board;

WHEREAS, since its creation, such committee has substantially and satisfactorily
completed the work assigned to it; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that the continued existence of such committee as
a Board committee is no longer necessary or desirable.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that such committee is hereby dissolved.



Exhibit D
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

Election of 3rd Member to Governance & HR Committee

WHEREAS, pursuant to the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors at the Board's
June 29, 2016 meeting, the Board's Governance and Human Resource Committee (the
"Committee") has three positions in total, one of which is filled by Greg Hale (as Chairperson of
the Committee) and one of which is filled by Jeff Brodsky;

WHEREAS, there currently exists one vacant position on the Committee;

WHEREAS, Article III, Section 3.01 of the By-Laws provides that the members of Board
committees shall be designated by a majority of the entire Board; and

WHEREAS, Board desires to designate another member of the Board of Directors to
serve on the Committee.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Board hereby elects and designates
Bruce Schlein to serve as the third member of the Committee.



Exhibit E
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

Approval of Policies and Procedures Manual

WHEREAS, on November 10, 2011, the Board adopted certain interim policies and
procedures (the “Interim Policies and Procedures™) which were to represent a subset of the full
set of policies and procedures which the Board intended to adopt at a later date;

WHEREAS, on June 26, 2013, the Board reviewed and adopted a full policies and
procedures manual (the “P&P Manual™) and further resolved that at least every two years, the
Board would review and ratify the P&P Manual,

WHEREAS, at the time such P&P Manual was adopted by the Board, the Board
delegated to the CEO the power and authority (subject to certain limitations) to make further
changes to the P&P Manual from time to time;

WHERAS, at its October 6, 2014 meeting, the Board approved certain amendments and
modifications to the P&P Manual;

WHERAS, an updated version of the P&P Manual was provided to each Director as a
supplement to and concurrently with the meeting package for the annual meetings (held October
26, 2016) of the Members and Directors (the P&P Manual, as so provided, being incorporated
herein by reference); and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined that it is prudent and in the best interests of the
Corporation for the October 6, 2014 version of the P&P Manual to be further amended and
restated in the form so provided.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Board hereby approves such updated
version of the P&P Manual, and it is

RESOLVED FURTHER, that as more specifically contemplated in Section 3.3.1 of such
form of the P&P Manual, the manual may be further amended and/or modified from time to time
by the CEO in consultation with one or more other Officers of the Corporation.
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

March 9, 2017

At a regular meeting of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the New York City

Energy Efficiency Corporation (the “Corporation™) held at the Corporation's offices at 1359
Broadway, 19th floor, New York, NY, at 3:00 p.m. on the afternoon of March 9, 2017, the
following Directors and Officers were present:

Jeff Brodsky, a Director of the Corporation and Vice Chairman — Related Companies
David Fenton, a Director of the Corporation and Founder/Chairman — Fenton
Communications

Ashok Gupta, a Director of the Corporation and Senior Energy Economist — Natural
Resources Defense Council

Greg Hale, a Director of the Corporation and Senior Advisor to the Chairman of Energy
and Finance — State of New York

Marc Khouzami, a Director of the Corporation and a Director at Deutsche Bank

Sadie McKeown, a Director of the Corporation and Chief Operating Officer — The
Community Preservation Corporation

Renwick Paige, a Director of the Corporation and President — Energy Infrastructure
Partners

Curtis Probst, a Director of the Corporation and Managing Director — Rocky Mountain
Institute

Bruce Schlein, a Director of the Corporation and a Director in Citi’s Community
Reinvestment Act Business Strategy & Execution group (participated by telephone)

Elizabeth Zeldin, a Member of the Corporation and a Senior Program Director —
Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

Susan Leeds, President of the Corporation
Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary of the Corporation
Jay Merves, Treasurer of the Corporation

Also in attendance by invitation were John Lee, Ali Levine, Aaron Ordower and Jenna

Tatum of the Mayor's Office of Sustainability ("MOS") and Naeemah Lajoie and Mike Kerstetter
of the Corporation. (Director Dan Zarrilli was absent from the meeting.) It was noted that a
quorum existed and the meeting was called to order at approximately 3:05 p.m.

Approval of Prior Meeting's Minutes.

Reference was made to the minutes of the prior Board meeting included in the Meeting

Package that was provided to the Board prior to the meeting (the “Meeting Package™). It was
asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the minutes and none were raised.

A motion to approve the minutes was made, seconded and unanimously approved.



2. Cubit Loan.

Reference was made to the material in the Meeting Package concerning the project
financed by the Corporation known as "Cubit". The support various Directors had previously
provided concerning Cubit was noted, as was their further involvement going forward. A
presentation was made concerning the current status of the project and the Directors discussed
the matter in detail with the President, Vice President and Treasurer. Numerous questions were
asked and answered.

No motions or resolutions were made on the matter.

3. Retrofit Accelerator.

Reference was made to the material in the Meeting Package concerning New York City's
program know as the "Retrofit Accelerator". Representatives of MOS gave the Board a detailed
update on the program's current status and future plans. The program was discussed at length
and numerous questions were asked and answered.

No motions or resolutions were made on the matter.

4. C-PACE.

Reference was made to technical assistance being provided by the Corporation for MOS
in connection with the City's efforts to establish a commercial property assessed clean energy
("C-PACE") loan program in the City. An update was provided on the work performed by the
Corporation to-date and the current status of the C-PACE program generally. The matter was
discussed at some length and several questions were asked and answered.

No motions or resolutions were made on the matter.

5. Other Matters.

Various other matters were discussed, including the Board-level performance dashboard
included in the Meeting Package, the pipeline report, the Corporation's contractor based
marketing strategy, the Corporation's geographic expansion program, the upcoming hiring of
new staff, and development/fundraising efforts.

No motions or resolutions were made on such matters.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and unanimously approved, the meeting was
adjourned at approximately 5:05 pm.

Respectfully submitted,

—_s

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting



MINUTES OF MEETING
OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

June 28, 2017

At a regular meeting of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the New York City
Energy Efficiency Corporation (the “Corporation™) held at the Corporation's offices at 1359
Broadway, 19th floor, New York, NY, at 3:00 p.m. on the afternoon of June 28, 2017, the
following Directors and Officers were present:

e [Hannah Blitzer, Director

e Jeff Brodsky, Director and Chairperson of the Board
e David Fenton, Director

e Ashok Gupta, Director

e (Greg Hale, Director

e Marc Khouzami, Director

e Sadie McKeown, Director (participated by telephone)
e Renwick Paige, Director

e Curtis Probst, Director

e Bruce Schlein, Director

e Elizabeth Zeldin, Director

e Susan Leeds, President
e Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary
e Jay Merves, Treasurer

Also in attendance by invitation were Sean Berry from BTQ Financial (participated by
telephone) and Naeemah Lajoie and Mike Kerstetter of the Corporation. (Director Mark
Chambers was absent from the meeting.) It was noted that a quorum existed and the meeting
was called to order at approximately 3:07 p.m.

1. New Ex-Officio Directors.

It was noted that the City of New York had recently appointed two new individuals
(Hannah Blitzer and Mark Chambers) to serve as the City’s ex-officio Directors of the
Corporation and that Dan Zarrilli was no longer on the Board. Attendees at the meeting went
around and introduced themselves to Ms. Blitzer.

2 Approval of Prior Meeting's Minutes.

Reference was made to the minutes of the prior Board meeting included in the Meeting
Package that was provided to the Board prior to the meeting (the “Meeting Package™). It was
asked if any Directors had any comments or questions on the minutes and none were raised.

A motion to approve the minutes was made, seconded and unanimously approved.
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

October 13, 2016

1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY, 10018

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation

(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Audit and Finance Committee of NYCEEC (the “Committee™),
held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, at approximately 3:00 p.m. on October 13, 2016,
the following Directors and Officers of NYCEEC were present:

Marc Khouzami, a Director of NYCEEC and a Director at Deutsche Bank

Sadie McKeown, a Director of NYCEEC and Chief Operating Officer and Executive
Vice President at the Community Preservation Corporation (patticipated by telephone)
Renwick Paige, a Director of NYCEEC, Chairperson of the Committee and

President, Energy Infrastructure Partners (participated by telephone)

Susan Leeds, President of NYCEEC
Jay Merves, Treasurer of NYCEEC
Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary of NYCEEC

Also present by invitation were Warren Ruppel and Daniel McElwee from Marks Paneth

LLP, NYCEEC's independent auditor (the "Auditor"); Sean Berry and Jacob Berrio from BTQ
Financial; and Naecemah Lajoie and Mike Kerstetter from NYCEEC. It was noted that a quorum .
existed and the meeting was called to order.

Reference was made to the Committee meeting package previously submitted by email to

the members of the Committee and physical copies of which were handed out at the meeting (the

"Meeting Package"). A short discussion was had concerning the minutes of the Committee's
prior meeting as provided in the Meeting Package. A motion was made to approve such minutes.
The motion was seconded, voted on and unanimously approved by the Directors present.

Reference was made to the Auditor's annual post-audit presentation for the audit year

ended June 30, 2016 included in the Meeting Package and to the financial statements contained
therein (the "Financial Statements"). Mr. Ruppel provided a detailed summary of the
information contained in the presentation, and discussed (among other things) the audit process
and timing to-date, certain changes to the "single audit" requirements, the fact that the audit did
not reveal any instances of fraud, conflict of interest matters or other significant governance
issues, NYCEEC's internal controls and certain changes to FASB accounting standards that will
become relevant to NYCEEC in the future.




Mr. Merves provided a further presentation on various sections of the Financial
Statements. Numerous questions concerning the audit and the Financial Statements were raised
by the Directors which were answered and the Committee further discussed the audit and
Financial Statements.

Mr. Ruppel noted the Auditor's expectation that it would be issuing an unmodified
opinion on NYCEEC's Financial Statements. He also noted that the Auditor did not have any
recommendations for additional best practices that NYCEEC should consider.

A motion was made to recommend that NYCEEC's Board of Directors approve the
Financial Statements as presented in the Meeting Package. The motion was seconded, voted on
and unanimously approved.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and unanimously approved, the meeting was
adjourned at approximately 3:30 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

/[_«,

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting



3. Update on Committee Meetings.

Reference was made to the recent June 16, 2017 meeting of the Board’s Audit and
Finance Committee (“A&F Committee™) and to the minutes of such meeting included in the
Meeting Package. Mr. Paige, as Chairperson of the A&F Committee, provided the Board with
an update on such meeting. It was noted that the A&F Committee had approved the selection of
Marks Paneth LLP to conduct the FY2017 audit of the Corporation. Questions were asked and
answered and a short discussion was had. It was also noted that at its meeting, the A&F
Committee had reviewed the Corporation’s proposed FY2018 budget and the proposed policy
concerning allowances for loan losses. The proposed budget and the policy for loan loss
allowances were discussed in more detail as described below.

Reference was also made to the May 15, 2017 and June 26, 2017 meetings of the Board’s
Governance and Human Resource Committee (“Gov&HR Committee™) and to the minutes of the
May meeting included in the Meeting Package. Mr. Hale, as Chairperson of the Gov&HR
Committee, provided the Board with a brief update on such meetings.

4, General Update on Loan Portfolio.

It was noted that the Corporation’s transition to the new loan servicing software
application The Mortgage Office or “TMO” had been substantially completed and reference was
made to the Loan Aging Trial Balance Report produced by TMO, physical copies of which were
handed out at the meeting. A general presentation was made on various loans covered in such
report. In particular, reference was made to the two line-items in the report concerning amounts
past-due in connection with the “Cubit” project. A detailed update on the Cubit transaction was
also provided as described below.

5. Cubit Loan.

A detailed presentation was made on the current status of the Cubit transaction and the
terms of the new senior bridge loan made on June 2. It was noted that based on information
provided by the firm Conway MacKenzie, it was understood that the project budget and
completion timeline were currently back on-track and moving forward as expected. The strategy
behind the interest rate for the loan was also discussed. It was noted that one implication of this
strategy was the increased likelihood that a portion of the original project loan by the
Corporation would not be fully repaid and would result in a loss to the Corporation of
approximately $800,000 (based on current estimates). It was also noted that to address such
expected loss, a transaction-specific loan loss reserve had been established and would appear in
the FY2017 financial statements. It was asked if there were any questions on the Cubit project
and loans. Various questions were asked and answered and further discussion was had on the
matter,

6. 11 West 126th.

An update was provided on the background and current status of the Corporation’s loan
for the passive house project at 11 West 126th street. Among other things, it was noted that with
the assistance of FSA the Corporation was actively seeking to work with the developer and lead-
lender to restructure the loan and financing structure. It was also noted that the final results and



resolution of the matter remained to be determined. Various questions were asked and answered
and further discussion followed.

In connection with the issues presented by the Cubit and 11 West 126th projects, Mr.
Brodsky reiterated the difficult balancing act the Corporation must undertake to responsibly
achieve its mission. He noted that the Board was not troubled by the fact that various projects
financed by the Corporation were facing problems because, organizationally, it was and
continues to be the Board’s expectation that in order for the Corporation to achieve its strategic
policy goals, the Corporation must engage in sometimes risky transactions (which will run into
issues from time to time) while simultaneously seeking to manage and balance those risks in an
artful manner. He further noted the Board’s expectation that the Corporation would be
constantly adjusting its policies and approaches to maintain this balance between risk
management, while also seeking to move forward with originating new loans and “pushing the
envelope” to achieve the organization’s mission. Further discussion was had on the matter.

7. Originations of New Loans vs. Capacity Building.

The rate at which new loans were being originated by the Corporation was discussed. It
was explained that because of the Corporation’s recent experiences dealing with problematic
projects in the portfolio like Cubit and 11 West 126™, a deliberate decision had been made to
invest more in robust capacity-building for portfolio loan management, surveillance, risk
management and to revisit the Corporation’s loan underwriting policies, before then redoubling
efforts on originating new loans.

8. Loan Loss Reserve Policy.

It was noted that a new updated policy for reserving against loan losses had been
developed with the assistance of BTQ Financial. A presentation was made on the policy’s four-
tier methodology for calculating the size of the reserve. It was noted that the A&F Committee
had considered and approved such policy and it was further noted that such policy would
continue to be evaluated and refined over time as appropriate. It was noted that the
Corporation’s auditors were also expected to evaluate various aspects of the policy. It was also
noted that the Corporation expected to evaluate the loan loss reserve quarterly.

9. FY2018 Budget.

Reference was made to the resolution in the Meeting Package concerning the proposed
2018 fiscal year budget for the Corporation. The Chairperson of the A&F Committee noted that
the committee had reviewed the budget and that it was the committee’s recommendation that the
budget be approved by the Board. A lengthy discussion was had on the matter. Among other
things it was noted that current projections had the Corporation basically breaking-even for 2017,
as between costs and expenses. Several questions were asked and answered. Mr. Brodsky noted
how impressive it was that such a relatively young organization is already earning about 70% of
its revenue from transactions, and that this was a significant accomplishment.

A motion was made to approve the resolutions concerning the FY2018 budget in the form
attached hereto at Exhibit A. The motion was seconded and unanimously approved.



10. Other Matters.

Discussions were had on various other matters, including (among other topics) the CEO
report, the board-level performance dashboard, and the City’s C-PACE program. Reference was
made to the related materials included in the Meeting Package.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and unanimously approved, the meeting was
adjourned at approximately 4:30 pm.

Respectfully submitted,

—_ N

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting



Exhibit A
to Board Meeting Minutes

DIRECTOR RESOLUTION

Approval of Fiscal Year 2018 Budget

WHEREAS, the Audit and Finénce Committee has reviewed the proposed budget for fiscal
year 2018 prepared by NYCEEC staff and its fiscal agent BTQ Financial, LLC, a copy of which
budget is attached hereto (the “2018 Budget™); and

WHEREAS, the Audit and Finance Committee recommends that the Board adopt the 2018
Budget.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, that the Board hereby adopts the 2018 Budget,
as may be amended and/or modified by NYCEEC’s Chief Executive Officer, as necessary.



Attachment
to Director Resolution

FY 2018 Budget

[see next page]



Fiscal Year 2018 Proposed Budget
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Fiscal Year 2018 (FY18) Bu
* Revenues are projected to increase $932k or 22% over the FY17 Budget to $5.14 million

. Excluding the Cubit reserve item, revenues will increase $883k or 21% over the FY17 year-
end forecast. This increase is due to increased interest income and greater philanthropic
funding.

. Expenses are projected to increase $188k or 5% over the FY17 Budget to $4.33 million

*  Excluding the Cubit reserve item, expenses will increase $101k or 2.4% over the FY17 year-
end forecast. Increases in personnel expenses due to additional staffing and the addition of
surveillance fees offset the reduction in provision expenses from the high in FY17 due to
initial provision.

. Net income is projected to increase $744k from $71k in the FY17 budget to $815k in the FY18
budget due to the CUBIT loan restructuring.

‘ Self sufficiency as measured by earned income over total expenses will be 76% in FY18, up from
68% in FY17.

Fiscal Year 2018 (FY18) Budget Summary with comparisons to Fiscal Year 2017 (FY17)
approved budget and FY17 Year-End Forecast: Effects of the Cubit provision in FY17 are broken out

in the below summary for comparative purposes, but are included in the detail on the following page.

FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017
Proposed Approved Proposed Prelim YE
BUDGET BUDGET $ Change % Change BUDGET Forecast § Change % Change

REVENUE
Grants & Contracts 1,837,185 1,788,000 49,185 2.75% 1,837,185 1,363,388 473,796 34.75%
Earned Income 3,306,037 2,422,300 883,737 36.48% 3,306,037 2,896,500 409,537 14.14%
TOTAL REVENUE 5,143,222 4,210,300 932,922 22.16% 5,143,222 4,259,888 883,334 20.74%
EXPENSE
Total Salaries and Fringe 2,644,500 2,576,662 67,838 2.63% 2,644,500 2,251,327 393,173 17.46%
Total Program Expenses 1,160,000 1,041,000 119,000 11.43% 1,160,000 1,436,080 (276,080) -19.22%
Total Administrative Expenses 523,700 521,848 1,852 0.35% 523,700 539,346 (15,646) -2.90%
TOTAL EXPENSES 4,328,200 4,139,510 188,690 4.56% 4,328,200 4,226,753 101,447 2.40%
NET INCOME, subtotal 815,022 70,790 744,232 : 815,022 33,135 781,886 2359.68%

Cubit Provision

revenue - grants and contracts - 4 828,000 (828,000) -100.00%

expense - program expenses - < 828,000 (828,000) -100.00%
Cubit Provision, net = n/al
NET INCOME, total 815,022 70,790 744,232 815,022 33,135 781,886 2359.68%
New York City Energy Efficiency Board Package: Page 24 of 43
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Fiscal Year 2018 Proposed Budget

FY18 Budget Summary

REVENUE
Federal Funding
State Funding
City Funding
Foundation Grants
Program Revenue - Fee
Program Revenue — Interest
Interest Revenue
Reimbursable and Misc
TOTAL REVENUE
EXPENSE
Salary & Fringes
Salary and Wages
Fringes

Total Salary & Fringe

Program Expenses
Travel & Meals
Training
Financial Advisor
Project Technical Consulting
Legal
Marketing and Website
HR Consulting
Loan Interest & Financing Fees
Provision for Loan Loss
Other Consulting
Surveillance

Total Program Expenses

Administrative Expenses
Payroll and Benefits Administration
Insurance
Furniture&Equipment
Supplies
Utilities
Audit Services
Fiscal Agent Service Fee
IT and Telecommunication
Rent
Depreciation
Bank and Miscellaneous Fees
Total Administrative Expenses

TOTAL EXPENSES

NET INCOME

RESTRICTED ADDITIONS/ADJUSTMENTS

RELEASES FROM RESTRICTION

CHANGE IN TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

New York City Energy Efficiency
Corporation

FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017
Proposed BUDGET __ Approved BUDGET Change Proposed BUDGET _ Prelim YE Forecast Change

45,000 88,000 (43,000 45,000 870,122 (825,122)
167,000 161,084 167,000 27,833 139,167
1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,089,503 10,497
525,185 438,916 525,185 203,930 321,255
132,000 132,000 132,000 166,492 (34,492)
3,169,737 2,286,000 883,737 3,169,737 2,722,374 447,363
2,500 2,500 2,500 5,633 (3,133)
1,800 1,800 1,800 2,000 (200}
5,143,222 4,210,300 932,922 5,143,222 5,087,888 55,334
2,150,000 2,094,847 2,150,000 1,839,082 310,918
494,500 481,815 494,500 412,245 82,255
2,644,500 2,576,662 2,644,500 2,251,327 393,173
17,000 17,000 17,000 21,216 (4,216)
8,000 7,000 8,000 4,628 3,372
70,000 90,000 (20,000 70,000 25,636 44,364
70,000 78,000 70,000 15,581 54,419
50,000 100,000 (50,000] 50,000 61,615 (11,615)
110,000 160,000 (50,000 110,000 136,388 (26,388)
54,000 54,000 54,000 48,740 5,260
280,000 235,000 280,000 279,003 997
200,000 200,000 200,000 1,628,000 (1,428,000)
108,000 100,000 108,000 43,273 64,727
193,000 193,00 193,000 - 193,000
1,160,000 1,041,000 119,00 1,160,000 2,264,080 (1,104,080)
13,000 12,000 13,000 13,101 (101)
35,000 35,000 35,000 32,501 2,499
10,000 15,000 10,000 540 9,460
10,000 10,000 10,000 7,171 2,829
15,000 20,000 15,000 4,159 10,841
30,000 30,000 30,000 28,000 2,000
145,000 144,936 145,000 146,336 (1,336)
80,000 84,000 80,000 124,555 (44,555)
114,700 114,700 114,700 114,700 =
68,000 53,212 68,000 64,531 3,469
3,000 3,000 3,000 3,752 {752)
523,700 521,848 523,700 539,346 (15,646)
4,328,200 4,139,510 4,328,200 5,054,753 (726,553)
815,022 70,790 815,022 33,135 781,886
- - < 200,000 (200,000)
(314,396) B (314,396) (314,396) (1,031,930) 717,534
(314,396) - (314,396 (314,396) (831,930) 517,534

500,626 70,790 500,626 [798,795)

1,299,421
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

February 15, 2017

1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY, 10018

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Audit and Finance Committee of NYCEEC (the “Committee”),
held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, at approximately 10:30 a.m. on February 15,
2017, the following Directors and Officers of NYCEEC were present:

e Marc Khouzami, a Director of NYCEEC and a Director at Deutsche Bank (participated
by telephone)

e Sadie McKeown, a Director of NYCEEC and Chief Operating Officer and Executive
Vice President at the Community Preservation Corporation (participated by telephone)

o Renwick Paige, a Director of NYCEEC, Chairperson of the Committee and
President, Energy Infrastructure Partners

e Susan Leeds, President of NYCEEC

e Jay Merves, Treasurer of NYCEEC

e Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary of NYCEEC (participated by telephone)

Also present by invitation was Sean Berry from BTQ Financial; and Naeemah Lajoie and
Mike Kerstetter from NYCEEC. It was noted that a quorum existed and the meeting was called
to order.

Reference was made to the meeting materials previously provided by email to the
members of the Committee and physical copies of which were handed out at the meeting (the
"Meeting Package"). Mr. Merves gave a presentation on NYCEEC's mid-year financial status by
walking through various financial statements and other materials included in the Meeting
Package. During the meeting the Directors asked several questions which were answered.

The presentation included updates on various matters and line-items in the revenues and
expenditure sides of the income statement/statement of activities provided in the Meeting
Package. Among other things, this portion of the presentation included discussions on the
funding sources to be used for NYCEEC's geographic expansion activities; plans for hiring a
new administrative assistant; the development of a new "asset liability model"; and the fact that
revenues to-date are greater than what was forecast in the annual budget.



The presentation also included updates on various matters and line-items in the balance
sheet/statement of financial position provided in the Meeting Package. Among other things, this
portion of the presentation included discussions on delinquent payments owed to NYCEEC by
the City and how it typically requires significant time and effort on the part of NYCEEC to get
paid.

An update on the current status of operationalizing and "rolling out" the new loan
servicing software "The Mortgage Office” was also discussed. It was noted that good progress is
being made and that NYCEEC is continuing to learn how to use the various reports available
through that software. It was also noted that NYCEEC expects to soon be turning to the next
stage of the rollout, which will involve using the software for loan surveillance purposes.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and unanimously approved, the meeting was
adjourned at approximately 11:15 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

June 16, 2017

1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Audit and Finance Committee of NYCEEC (the “Committee”),
held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY, at 9:00 a.m. on Friday, June 16, 2017, the following
Directors and Officers of NYCEEC were present:

e Marc Khouzami, Director

e Sadie McKeown, Director

e Renwick Paige, Director (participated by telephone)

e Susan Leeds, President (participated by telephone)

e Jay Merves, Treasurer

e Fred Lee, Vice President and Secretary (participated by telephone)

Also present by invitation were Warren Ruppel and Daniel McElwee from Marks Paneth
LLC, NYCEEC’s independent auditor (the “Auditor”); Sean Berry and Jacob Berrio from BTQ
Financial; and Naeemah Lajoie and Mike Kerstetter from NYCEEC. It was noted that a quorum
existed and the meeting was called to order at approximately 9:05 a.m.

Reference was made to the Committee meeting package previously submitted by email to
the members of the Committee and physical copies of which were handed out at the meeting (the
"Meeting Package"). Reference was made to the minutes of the Committee's prior meetings as
provided in the Meeting Package. It was asked if there were any questions or comments on the
minutes. None were raised and a motion was made to approve such minutes. The motion was
seconded, voted on and unanimously approved.

Reference was made to the materials included in the Meeting Package on the forthcoming
FY2017 financial audit and the proposed selection of Marks Paneth LLP as NYCEEC’s auditor.
A detailed presentation was made concerning the materials in the Meeting Package. Among
other things, the Auditor noted that its work on the FY2017 audit will include an evaluation of
the assumptions used by NYCEEC in calculating the allowances made for uncollectible
receivables. The Auditor also noted that they are independent from NYCEEC. The Auditors
asked if any of the Committee members had any concerns about (or knowledge of) any instances
of fraud or other suspicious activity within NYCEEC. The Committee members did not raise
any such concerns or note any such instances.



The Auditor also asked if there were any particular areas that any Committee members
wanted the Auditor to look into as part of its FY2017 audit. Given NYCEEC’s recent
experiences with the Cubit transaction, it was requested that the Auditor focus on the allowance
for loan losses. A discussion was had during which numerous questions were asked by the
Directors and answered. A motion was made to approve the selection of Marks Paneth LLP to
conduct the FY2017 audit. The motion was seconded, voted on and unanimously approved.

Reference was made to the materials in the Meeting Package concerning NYCEEC’s
FY2017 financial performance through April 30, 2017 and the current status of the loan
portfolio. A detailed presentation and discussion followed on the topics generally. Among other
things, discussion was had on the status of the Cubit loan and the loan for the project at 11 West
126th Street. Numerous questions were raised by the Directors which were answered.

Reference was made to the materials in the Meeting Package concerning modifications to
NYCEEC’s current loan loss policy and the way the allowance for loan losses will be calculated.
A presentation was made on the topic. A discussion was had during which numerous questions
were asked by the Directors and answered.

Reference was made to the proposed FY2018 budget included in the Meeting Package
(the "Proposed Budget "). A lengthy presentation and discussion followed concerning the
Proposed Budget. Numerous questions were raised by the Directors which were answered. A
motion was made to recommend that NYCEEC's Board of Directors approve the Proposed
Budget as presented in the Meeting Package. The motion was seconded, voted on and
unanimously approved.

Upon a motion duly made, seconded and unanimously approved, the meeting was
adjourned at approximately 10:20 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

o W

Mike Kerstetter
Secretary of the Meeting
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF GOVERNANCE AND HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
November 28, 2016
1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY, 10018

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Governance and Human Resource Committee of NYCEEC (the
“Committee™), held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, at approximately 12:00 p.m. on
November 28, 2016, the following Directors and Officer of NYCEEC were present:

Jeff Brodsky - Director (participated by telephone)
Greg Hale - Director

Bruce Schlein - Director (participated by telephone)
Susan Leeds - President

e Fred Lee - Vice President

Also present by invitation were Jennifer Loftus of Astron Solutions and Naeemah Lajoie
of NYCEEC. The meeting was called to order at approximately 12:00 p.m.

Mr. Lee began the meeting with a brief overview of the role of the Committee, as taken
from NYCEEC’s bylaws. Mr. Schlein appreciated the overview as a new member of the
Committee.

Ms. Leeds then provided introductions to Mr. Schlein and Ms. Loftus. With a committee
quorum present, the meeting continued. Ms. Loftus provided brief background to NYCEEC’s
total compensation strategy.

Ms. Loftus then continued to present to the Committee any changes of note between the
2015 -2016 and 2016 — 2017 benefits packages, including carriers and premium changes. Ms.
Loftus also noted that the proposed benefits program does not create an overcompensation
situation with respect to any of the disqualified individuals’ compensation packages vis-a-vis
IRS Intermediate Sanctions.

Questions followed regarding what a disqualified individual is, and any ramifications of
overcompensating individuals in these positions.

Mr. Brodsky noted that while the benefits cost percentage changes year over year are
relatively small, NYCEEC and the Board also must be cognizant of the actual dollar spend on
benefits and the dollar impact on the organization’s budget. Mr. Hale concurred with that
observation, and also noted the importance of benefits in attracting and retaining the talent
NYCEEC needs to be successful.



Mr. Schlein asked questions regarding the history of NYCEEC’s benefits package. Ms.
Leeds shared the evolution of NYCEEC’s benefits plan, from NYCEDC coverage via a shared
services contract, to the organization’s own programs.

Ms. Loftus and Ms. Leeds extended an invitation to the Committee to discuss
compensation strategy prior to the June / July committee meeting. Mr. Hale thought that would
be beneficial, and suggested an April meeting to explore the topic. Ms. Lajoie will work with the
invited individuals to calendar a mutually agreeable time.

Mr. Lee confirmed that no formal action was needed from the Committee. Upon motion
duly made and seconded, the meeting was adjourned at approximately 12:26 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Jennifer Loftus
Secretary of the Meeting
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF GOVERNANCE AND HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
May 15, 2017
1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY, 10018

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Governance and Human Resource Committee of NYCEEC (the
“Committee”), held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY 10018, at approximately 8 a.m. on May
15,2017, the following Directors and Officer of NYCEEC were present by conference-call:

Jeff Brodsky, a Director of NYCEEC
Greg Hale, a Director of NYCEEC
Susan Leeds, President of NYCEEC
Fred Lee, Vice President of NYCEEC

Also present by invitation was Jennifer Loftus of Astron Solutions and Naeemah Lajoie
of NYCEEC. Bruce Schlein was absent from the meeting. The meeting was called to order at
approximately 8:00 a.m.

The purpose of the meeting was to review NYCEEC’s compensation philosophy and
procedures, specifically as it relates to the Committee’s role and responsibilities.

A slide deck was presented on the background information on this topic for the
Committee. It was noted that not all of the participants in the call received the slide deck. Mr.
Lee sent around by email a copy of the slide deck, and it was noted that this was not the final
version of the slide deck and that one page was missing. Ms. Loftus noted that she would
circulate the final version of the slide deck with all pages after the call (the final version of the
slide deck is attached to these minutes at Exhibit A).

Ms. Loftus stated that NYCEEC’s compensation philosophy was established in
2012. She further stated that it is appropriate to periodically refresh the strategy. She further
explained that the philosophy was established in order to attract staff with the specialized skill
set to conduct the work of NYCEEC. She explained that there are three components to
compensation: base salary, bonus — which is not a given as it is based on budget and individual
performance, and benefits.

Ms. Loftus explained that the CEO oversees the execution of the compensation plan for
the organization. Ms. Loftus also provided a review of the concept of “disqualified persons™ and
the criteria for such employees.

Ms. Loftus explained the details of what is considered in NYCEEC’s compensation
philosophy. She stated that there is a salary range established for each position based on the job
description, and she stated that there is a range spread of 50% in establishing compensation



ranges for each position. Ms. Loftus stated that market surveys of salary ranges are used to help
establish the salary ranges and that these surveys include both for-profit and not-for-profit survey
data.

A question was asked by the Committee about the range spread to clarify how it
works. The question was answered. An additional question was asked by the
Committee: How does Ms. Loftus figure out the balance between for-profit and not-for-profit
comparables? She answered that she uses a minimum of three surveys and she tries to get four
or five. The ranges recommended are more heavily weighted towards non-profit data. The
ranges are not skewed towards for-profits.

Ms. Loftus discussed the establishment and use of job descriptions. She stated that this
is the core document in determining compensation. She stated that job descriptions should be
viewed as living documents and the organization should continually be looking at them for
appropriateness.

Ms. Loftus reviewed the Committee’s duties. Ms. Loftus also provided an additional
detailed discussion of “disqualified persons,” and stated the criteria for identifying “disqualified
persons”: they have substantial influence over the organization, they are voting members of a
governing body, and/or they are responsible for the operation’s finances. Any of these criteria
mean that an employee is considered a “disqualified person.”

Ms. Loftus explained the process that is used to validate the compensation of disqualified
persons. Ms. Loftus stated that the peer organizations used for the “990 analysis™ of disqualified
persons were discussed last year. It was further discussed that the selection of peer organizations
is an important function.

Ms. Loftus described the penalties that can ensue in the event that disqualified persons
are found to be over-compensated by the IRS. A committee member stated that he had
previously not fully understood the penalties, but that he felt comfortable that NYCEEC was
following an appropriate procedure in identifying and analyzing peer organizations and
establishing compensation for disqualified persons.

A question was raised concerning the existence of D&O insurance. Ms. Lajoie
confirmed that the organization has D&O coverage, and that the amount of such coverage is

sufficient.

Upon motion duly made and seconded, the meeting was adjourned.

Respecttully submittz@ﬂ_gé

Susan Leeds
Secretary of the Meeting




Exhibit A

[attached]
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MINUTES OF MEETING
OF GOVERNANCE AND HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE OF
NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION
June 26, 2017
1359 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NY

At a meeting of the Directors of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation
(“NYCEEC”) comprising the Governance and Human Resource Committee of NYCEEC (the
“Committee™), held at 1359 Broadway, New York, NY, at approximately 8:45 a.m. on June 26,
2017, the following Directors and Officer of NYCEEC were present:

Jeff Brodsky, a Director of NYCEEC

Greg Hale, a Director of NYCEEC (participated by telephone)
Susan Leeds, President of NYCEEC

Bruce Schlein, a Director of NYCEEC

Also present by invitation was Jennifer Loftus of Astron Solutions. The meeting was
called to order at approximately 8:45 a.m.

The first order of business was the Committee’s approval of past minutes from meetings
dated July 13, 2015, June 29, 2016, November 28, 2016, and May 15, 2017. No questions were
raised on the content of such minutes. A motion was made to approve such minutes and they
were unanimously approved.

Then, after introductory remarks by Ms. Loftus, Ms. Leeds presented her overall budget
amounts for staff salary increases and 2017 bonuses. It was noted that both salary increases and
bonuses were below the amounts that NYCEEC budgeted due to staff performance and
terminations during the year. Ms. Leeds reminded the Committee that although the overall
budget for bonuses is 10% of salaries, actual payout amounts vary from 0 — 13% of base pay,
based on individual employee and overall NYCEEC performance. It was noted that bonuses are
not an entitlement, but rather the result of a thoughtful process focused on reviewing actual
performance.

Mr. Brodsky then provided some highlights for Mr. Schlein regarding the Committee’s
past involvement with NYCEEC compensation decisions, the annual performance appraisal
process, and NYCEEC’s compensation philosophy. Ms. Loftus provided additional clarity
regarding what a “disqualified person” is vis-a-vis IRS Intermediate Sanctions, and NYCEEC’s
compensation philosophy. Mr. Schlein inquired regarding triggers for IRS audits surrounding
disqualified persons. Ms. Leeds noted that, to date, NYCEEC has not been audited for IRS
Intermediate Sanctions issues.



As prompted by an additional question from Mr. Schlein, discussion then ensued among
the Committee members regarding NYCEEC’s status as a startup organization.

Following the conclusion of the staff compensation analysis discussion and other
Committee questions, the meeting shifted to the disqualified persons market analysis process &
results. Ms. Loftus provided high level background on and findings from the 2017 study.

Ms. Leeds provided her recommendations for salary and bonus adjustments for Jay
Merves and Fred Lee, highlighting their performance during the last year. Ms. Leeds’
recommendations were approved by the Committee with one exception. The base pay salary
adjustment recommendation for the Director, Business Development and Finance, was slightly
reduced due to financial impacts from the Cubit matter.

Ms. Leeds then left the meeting at 9:24 a.m.

Mr. Brodsky then shared additional context for the other Committee members regarding
the components, cost, and importance of NYCEEC’s benefits package.

Mr. Hale’s conference call connection dropped at 9:30 a.m. due to a double booking of
the conference line. He rejoined the call at 9:33 a.m. via cell phone.

The conversation then shifted to compensation adjustments for Ms. Leeds. The
committee approved a base pay adjustment and bonus for Ms. Leeds.

The meeting was adjourned at 9:40 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Susan Leeds
Secretary of the Meeting
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